

Recommendations for the assessment of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) in primary care: a consensus statement







© Gastroenterological Society of Australia 2024

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce the whole or part of this work in unaltered form for your own personal use or, if you are part of an organisation, for internal use within your organisation, but only if you or your organisation do not use the reproduction for any commercial purpose and retain this copyright notice as part of that reproduction. Apart from any use as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968* or allowed by this copyright notice, all other rights are reserved, and no part of this work may be reproduced by any process (electronic or otherwise) without prior written permission from the Gastroenterological Society of Australia. Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights for purposes other than those indicated above should be directed to the Gastroenterological Society of Australia, Level 1, 517 Flinders Lane, Melbourne VIC 3000, Australia or by email to gesa@gesa.org.au.

ISBN 978-0-6488453-9-3

First published 2024.

Disclaimer

The recommendations in this consensus statement represent the best available evidence at the time of compilation and are intended to be used only as a guide. The compilers of these recommendations shall not be liable for any loss, direct, indirect or consequential, on whatsoever account for any omission or negligent misstatement contained herein, or by reason of, arising from or in relation to any such user, by any other person, company or body relying or acting upon or purporting to rely or act upon any matter contained therein or arising thereout.

Suggested citation

MAFLD Consensus Statement Working Group. Recommendations for the assessment of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) in primary care: a consensus statement. Melbourne: Gastroenterological Society of Australia, 2024.

Contact

Gastroenterological Society of Australia

Level 1, 517 Flinders Lane Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia

Phone: 1300 766 176 Website: www.gesa.org.au Email: gesa@gesa.org.au Recommendations for the assessment of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) in primary care: a consensus statement

Contents

Abstract	1
Executive summary	2
1 Introduction	3
1.1 Background and rationale	3
1.2 Purpose	3
1.3 Target audience	3
1.4 Nomenclature	3
2 Methods	
2.1 Steering Committee	
2.2 Key clinical questions	5
2.3 Literature review and appraisal	5
2.4 Statement development and consensus method	5
2.5 Grading of evidence and strength of recommendations	6
3 Summary of recommendations	7
4 Screening and diagnosis of MAFLD	9
4.1 Prevalence and incidence in Australia and globally	9
4.2 Prevalence in people with high-risk conditions	9
4.2.1 Type 2 diabetes	9
4.2.2 Obesity	10
4.2.3 Multiple metabolic risk factors	10
4.4 Does screening for MAFLD meet Wilson and Jungner criteria?	10
4.5 Cost-effectiveness of screening for MAFLD	10
4.6 Diagnostic methods for MAFLD	12
4.6.1 Imaging modalities	12
4.6.2 Biomarkers	12
5 Assessment of coexisting conditions in MAFLD	
5.1 Role of metabolic dysfunction in pathogenesis of MAFLD	
5.2 Coexisting metabolic conditions in people with MAFLD	
5.3 Obesity in people with MAFLD	14
5.4 Type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD	15
5.4.1 Prevalence of type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD	15
5.4.2 Significance of type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD	15
5.5 Cardiovascular disease risk in people with MAFLD	16
5.5.1 Prevalence of other cardiovascular risk factors in people with MAFLD	16

5.5.2 Risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in people with MAFLD	16
5.6 Chronic kidney disease in people with MAFLD	17
5.6.1 Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in people with MAFLD	17
5.6.2 Hypothesised pathogenic link of chronic kidney disease to MAFLD	17
5.7 Obstructive sleep apnoea in people with MAFLD	17
5.7.1 Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnoea in people with MAFLD	17
5.7.2 Hypothesised pathogenic link of obstructive sleep apnoea to MAFLD	17
6 Assessment of underlying liver disease	19
6.1. Assessment of other causes of fatty liver	19
6.1.1 Other causes of fatty liver	19
6.1.2 Epidemiology of alcohol use and alcohol-related liver disease in Australia	19
6.1.3 Impact of alcohol use on outcomes in people with MAFLD	19
6.2. Assessment of alternative causes of liver disease	20
6.2.1 Assessment of chronic viral hepatitis in people with MAFLD	20
6.2.2 Assessment of iron overload in people with MAFLD	21
7 Assessment of liver fibrosis	22
7.1 Prevalence and significance of liver fibrosis in people with MAFLD	22
7.2 Rationale for non-invasive staging of liver fibrosis	22
7.3 Types and use of non-invasive tests for liver fibrosis	22
7.4 First-line testing for liver fibrosis	23
7.5 Second-line testing for liver fibrosis	24
7.5.1 Second-line test: vibration-controlled transient elastography	25
7.5.2 Second-line test: shear wave elastography	26
7.5.3 Second-line test: direct serum fibrosis tests	27
7.6 People with MAFLD-related cirrhosis	28
8. Monitoring for progression of liver disease	
8.1 Fibrosis progression in people with MAFLD	29
8.2 Using non-invasive tests to monitor liver fibrosis progression	29
8.3 Monitoring people aged over 75 years with MAFLD	30
8.4 Surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma in people with MAFLD	30
9. Monitoring of comorbid conditions	32
9.1 Impact of weight change on liver histology and outcomes in MAFLD	32
9.2 Incidence of type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD	32
10. Future developments and unmet needs	33
11. Conclusion	34
Abbreviations	35

Acknowle	edgement of funding
Acknowle	edgement of participation
Author di	sclosures
Results of	f Delphi rounds
Endorsing	g organisations44
Reference	es
Tables an	d boxes
Table 1.	Grading of evidence and recommendations (adapted from GRADE)6
Table 2.	Major metabolic risk factors for MAFLD
Table 3.	Classification of weight by BMI and waist circumference
Box 1.	Common causes of fatty liver
Figures	
Figure 1.	Diagnostic criteria for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease3

Abstract

Metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) is the most common liver condition in Australia and worldwide and is often encountered in general practice. The incidence of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) related to MAFLD is increasing, and a standardised evidence-based approach is required for the identification and assessment of patients with MAFLD.

This consensus statement details 21 evidencebased recommendations to aid primary health care professionals in the diagnosis and assessment of liver disease and coexisting conditions in patients with MAFLD. The development of this document was led by experts in hepatology, general practice, endocrinology, cardiometabolic disease, clinical biochemistry, nursing, implementation science and public health, with review by consumer representatives. The document was supported by a systematic literature search and appraisal, and a modified Delphi approach was used to reach consensus.

The application of these recommendations will aid in the determination of liver disease severity and assessment of underlying coexisting conditions in patients with MAFLD, thereby guiding appropriate referral pathways for specialist care and monitoring strategies.

Executive summary

Metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) is common among people attending primary care and should be assessed in adults with type 2 diabetes, obesity or two or more metabolic risk factors (including hypertension, dyslipidaemia and prediabetes). Hepatic steatosis should be evaluated using ultrasound, whereas metabolic dysfunction, including the presence and complications of type 2 diabetes and obesity, should be assessed according to current Australian guidelines.

Cardiovascular disease, chronic kidney disease and obstructive sleep apnoea are common in people with MAFLD and should be considered as part of a holistic health assessment. Alternative causes of hepatic steatosis, including excessive alcohol use, must be considered, and hepatitis B and C infection and iron overload should be evaluated in patients with elevated serum aminotransferase levels.

The risk of advanced liver fibrosis requires assessment using the non-invasive serum-based Fibrosis-4 (FIB-4)

Index; a low score (<1.3) is associated with a >95% negative predictive value for advanced liver fibrosis. People with an indeterminate FIB-4 score (in the range of 1.3–2.7) should undergo second-line assessment with liver elastography or a direct liver fibrosis serum test or, if these tests are unavailable, should be referred to a clinician with expertise in liver disease. People with MAFLD and a high FIB-4 score (>2.7), elevated results of a direct liver fibrosis serum test or elastography or with clinical, laboratory or imaging evidence of cirrhosis should be referred for further evaluation. People with MAFLD and a low FIB-4 score (<1.3) or low elastography or direct liver fibrosis serum test results should have their metabolic risk factors actively managed and be monitored with a repeat FIB-4 Index performed at least every 3 years.

Weight, body mass index and/or waist circumference should be monitored at least annually, and the emergence of incident type 2 diabetes should be monitored over time in those without type 2 diabetes initially.

1 Introduction

1.1 Background and rationale

Metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD), formerly known as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), is estimated to affect one in three Australian adults and is an increasingly frequent cause of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). 1,2 MAFLD is defined by the documented presence of hepatic steatosis on imaging, biomarkers or liver histology, in association with metabolic risk factors, including overweight or obesity, type 2 diabetes or features of the metabolic syndrome. Concerningly, incident cases of advanced liver disease and liver-related deaths due to MAFLD are estimated to increase by 85% in Australia between 2019 and 2030.

Most people with MAFLD have their initial and ongoing health care interactions with general practitioners. An underappreciation of the prevalence of MAFLD in general practice, coupled with a lack of awareness of, and access to, methods to assess the severity of liver disease hamper the evaluation of patients with MAFLD.⁵ A lack of clinical guidelines in the Australian context has also been identified as a significant barrier to implementing care pathways for patients with MAFLD and type 2 diabetes.⁶

The development of evidence-based recommendations and a standardised clinical pathway provides the opportunity for case-finding and assessment of alternative causes of fatty liver and liver disease, as well as consideration of coexisting cardiometabolic conditions. Assessment of the severity of liver disease and coexisting conditions allows for management of risk factors for progressive liver and cardiometabolic disease and efficient identification of those patients who would benefit from specialist referral. Ultimately, this will improve the care of patients with MAFLD and reduce health care costs.

1.2 Purpose

This consensus statement provides an evidence-based document for GPs regarding the assessment and appropriate referral of adults with MAFLD. It provides

guidance on screening and diagnostic strategies, assessment of coexisting conditions, assessment of liver disease severity and alternative causes of liver disease, and monitoring strategies.

1.3 Target audience

The target audience of this document is health professionals working in primary care. It is recognised, however, that other specialists and allied health professionals, including endocrinologists, encounter and care for people with MAFLD. The recommendations are also applicable in these other settings.

1.4 Nomenclature

The nomenclature of MAFLD arose from a need to refine the historical definition of NAFLD, which did not reflect the underlying disease pathogenesis, was defined by exclusionary criteria and was potentially stigmatising. In contrast, MAFLD has positive diagnostic criteria, requiring the presence of metabolic dysfunction, defined as the presence of type 2 diabetes, overweight or obesity, or two metabolic risk factors (Figure 1). A key difference is the allowance for other coexisting causes of liver disease, such as excessive alcohol consumption, which was not previously possible with the NAFLD definition. This recognises the common clinical presentation in primary care of dual (or multiple) aetiologies of liver disease being present in the one individual.

Figure 1. Diagnostic criteria for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease

Fatty liver		
+ One of:	Overweight or obesity	
	Type 2 diabetes	
	Two or more metabolic risk factors*	

^{*} Central obesity, hypertension, hypertriglyceridaemia, low level of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and prediabetes.

Although the definition of MAFLD arose in 2020, much of the literature regarding the assessment of fatty liver and use of biomarkers is derived from populations identified by the older NAFLD definition. Given that most people with NAFLD (>80%) also fulfil diagnostic criteria for MAFLD, and levels of non-invasive liver fibrosis test results are similar between the two definitions, ^{8,9} it is likely that literature using the NAFLD definition is applicable to the population defined as having MAFLD. For consistency and simplicity, we use the term MAFLD throughout this consensus statement. This document will be updated as new data emerge in the context of the newer definition.

A further nomenclature change, to metabolicassociated steatotic liver disease (MASLD), has recently been proposed because of the concern that the use of "fatty" may be stigmatising.¹¹⁰ Notably, the definition of MASLD requires exclusion of excessive alcohol consumption (defined as ≥20 g/day for women and ≥30 g/day for men) and alternative forms of liver disease. However, the term MAFLD has received widespread support and endorsement from patient groups, stakeholders, societies and associations.¹¹¹,¹²² As the presentation of patients with fatty liver in primary care is typically undifferentiated, the use of MAFLD is appropriate, with the approach to diagnosis and assessment incorporating screening for coexisting causes of liver disease.

2 Methods

This consensus statement was developed by applying the principles outlined in the Appraisal of Guidelines for Research & Evaluation (AGREE II) instrument.¹³

2.1 Steering Committee

A chair and co-chair were initially selected from the Gastroenterological Society of Australia (GESA) Liver Faculty Executive to form a Steering Committee (SC), with representation from specialty areas including hepatology, general practice, endocrinology, obesity medicine, cardiometabolic medicine, chemical pathology, implementation science and nursing. SC members are outlined in the Acknowledgement of participation. Competing interest statements were sought from each member and are provided in the Author disclosures section. The SC provided oversight and governance for the development of the consensus statement and is responsible for the final publication.

2.2 Key clinical questions

The SC developed key clinical questions representing clinical dilemmas faced by practising GPs. These questions covered four main areas: screening, assessment of extrahepatic coexisting conditions, assessment of underlying liver disease, and monitoring patients over time (see Appendix 1). The key clinical questions were translated into a PICO framework, if appropriate, to assist in a subsequent literature search.

2.3 Literature review and appraisal

A member of the SC (LCB) undertook a literature review for each key clinical question using a hierarchical search approach for published systematic reviews, meta-analyses, primary literature and high-quality evidence-based guidelines up to January 2022 (see Appendix 2). This was supplemented with new publications as relevant. The MEDLINE, EMBASE and Guideline Central (https://www.guidelinecentral.com) databases were searched. Systematic reviews were assessed using A Measurement Tool to Assess Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR). The AMSTAR online platform (https://amstar.ca/index.php) was used to

assess systematic review quality. Guideline quality was assessed by two SC members (LA and LCB) using the online AGREE II tool (https://www.agreetrust.org/my-agree/).¹³ In the absence of appropriate systematic reviews, guidelines or meta-analyses, a literature review targeted to the Australian context was performed where appropriate.

Existing guideline recommendations relevant to the key clinical questions were tabulated, along with the quality of the guideline according to AGREE II (see Appendix 3). The methodological quality and outcome measures or summary statistics of systematic reviews were summarised in tabulated and text form. Primary literature, where needed, was described according to methods, data items, outcomes and measures. An interpretation of the evidence and an assessment of limitations were performed.

2.4 Statement development and consensus method

Four working groups comprising clinicians and experts were established and led by section chairs derived from the SC. Each working group covered one of the four main areas of key clinical questions and examined the literature summarised by the literature review, with the opportunity to add additional literature if appropriate. Recommendation statements tailored to the Australian context were then developed from this evidence base. Recommendations were forwarded to the SC for review before circulation to the broad group for reaching consensus using a modified Delphi approach. 15 Two online questionnaires were circulated before a hybrid meeting was held on 13 June 2023. A third online questionnaire consisting of one recommendation followed the hybrid meeting. A total of 33 experts in liver disease management were invited to participate in the modified Delphi process, with online completion rates of 97% (32/33), 100% (33/33) and 100% (33/33) in Rounds 1, 2 and 3, respectively. The level of agreement with each recommendation was assessed using a five-point Likert scale (strongly disagree, disagree, neutral, agree, strongly agree). A decision rule with a supermajority of

≥80% (summative agree and strongly agree responses) was determined a priori as the determinant for consensus, as previously described. 16 Participants had the opportunity to provide additional comments regarding the recommendation for refinement in the subsequent round.

2.5 Grading of evidence and strength of recommendations

Levels of evidence for the recommendations were assessed using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) system, as recommended by the National Health and

Medical Research Council Guidelines for Guidelines. 17,18 The quality or certainty of evidence was classified as high, moderate, low or very low, and the strength of recommendations was classified as strong or weak (Table 1). Quality of evidence was rated using the domains of risk of bias/study limitations, imprecision, inconsistency, indirectness and publication bias. The strength of recommendations was determined based on review of the quality of the evidence, certainty regarding the balance of desirable and undesirable effects, certainty or variability in patient values and preferences, and cost.¹⁷ Factors determining the strength of recommendations were adapted for diagnostic studies where appropriate.

Table 1. Grading of evidence and recommendations (adapted from GRADE)

Quality of evidence	Definition
High	Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect
Moderate	Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate
Low	Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate
Very low	Any estimate of effect is very uncertain
Strength of recommendation Definition	
Strong	Factors influencing the strength of the recommendation included the quality of the evidence, presumed patient-important outcomes, and cost
Weak	Variability in preferences and values, or more uncertainty: more likely a weak recommendation is warranted Recommendation is made with less certainty; higher cost or resource consumption

GRADE, Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation.

3 Summary of recommendations

No.	Recommendation	Quality of evidence	Strength of recommendation	
Who	Who should be assessed for MAFLD?			
1	Adults with obesity and/or type 2 diabetes mellitus or two or more metabolic risk factors* should be assessed for MAFLD.	Low	Strong	
How	should MAFLD be diagnosed?			
2	Liver ultrasound should be the first-line test to diagnose hepatic steatosis in people at high risk of MAFLD.	Moderate	Strong	
Wha	t coexisting conditions should be assessed in people with MAFLD?			
3	People with obesity and MAFLD should be assessed in accordance with the Australian Obesity Management Algorithm.	Low	Strong	
4	People with MAFLD should be assessed for undiagnosed type 2 diabetes using measurement of fasting blood glucose or HbA _{1c} levels.	Moderate	Strong	
5	People with MAFLD should be assessed and monitored for the presence and risk of future cardiovascular disease according to current Australian guidelines.	High	Strong	
6	Baseline assessment for potential coexisting conditions of chronic kidney disease and obstructive sleep apnoea should be considered for people with MAFLD.	Moderate	Weak	
How	should other aetiologies of liver disease be assessed in people with MAFL	D?		
7	People with MAFLD should be assessed for other common causes of fatty liver and liver disease.	Low	Strong	
8	People with MAFLD should undergo screening for harmful alcohol use.	Moderate	Strong	
9	People with MAFLD and elevated serum aminotransferase levels should undergo baseline evaluation for hepatitis B and C infection.	Moderate	Strong	
10	People with MAFLD and elevated serum aminotransferase levels should undergo evaluation for iron overload.	Moderate	Strong	
How should the severity of liver disease be assessed in people with MAFLD?				
11	Non-invasive testing should be offered to people with MAFLD to assess their risk of liver fibrosis.	Moderate	Strong	
12	A non-invasive test, such as FIB-4, should be offered as an initial test to help "rule out" the risk of advanced liver fibrosis among people with MAFLD.	Moderate	Strong	

No.	Recommendation	Quality of evidence	Strength of recommendation
13	A second-line assessment with liver elastography or a direct liver fibrosis serum test should be performed in people with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score between 1.3 and 2.7. If these are unavailable, referral to a clinician with expertise in liver disease should be considered.	Low	Strong
14	People with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score >2.7 or elevated results of a direct liver fibrosis serum test or liver elastogram should be referred to a clinician with expertise in liver disease.	Low	Strong
15	People with MAFLD and clinical, laboratory or imaging evidence of cirrhosis should be referred to a clinician with expertise in liver disease.	High	Strong
How	should liver fibrosis in people with MAFLD be monitored over time?		
16	People with MAFLD who have an initial non-invasive fibrosis test result showing a low risk of advanced fibrosis are recommended to undergo repeat non-invasive fibrosis testing in 3 years.	Low	Strong
17	People with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score between 1.3 and 2.7 who undergo elastography or a direct liver fibrosis serum test that shows a low risk of advanced liver fibrosis should be offered repeat testing with FIB-4 at least every 3 years.	Low	Weak
18	For people who are 75 years or older and have MAFLD, routine monitoring for fibrosis progression should be performed on a case-by-case basis, depending on their coexisting conditions and life expectancy.	Low	Strong
19	People with cirrhosis who would be willing and suitable for HCC therapy should be undergoing 6-monthly surveillance for HCC using appropriate imaging with or without serum AFP testing.	Low	Strong
How should coexisting conditions be monitored over time in people with MAFLD?			
20	Weight, BMI and/or waist circumference should be monitored at least annually in people with MAFLD to guide management.	Low	Strong
21	People with MAFLD should be monitored for the development of type 2 diabetes according to current Australian guidelines.	Moderate	Strong

AFP = alpha-fetoprotein; BMI = body mass index; FIB-4 = Fibrosis-4; HbA_{1c} = glycated haemoglobin; HCC = hepatocellular carcinoma; MAFLD = metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease.

^{*} Metabolic risk factors: waist circumference ≥ 102 cm for White men and ≥ 88 cm for White women (or, for First Nations Australians and Asians, ≥ 90 cm for men and ≥ 80 cm for women); systolic blood pressure ≥ 130 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure ≥ 85 mmHg or drug treatment for high blood pressure; plasma triglyceride levels ≥ 1.7 mmol/L or drug treatment for elevated triglyceride levels; plasma high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels <1.0 mmol/L for men and <1.3 mmol/L for women or drug treatment for reduced HDL cholesterol levels; and prediabetes (i.e. fasting glucose levels of 6.1 to 6.9 mmol/L, or 2-h post-load glucose levels of 7.8 to 11.0 mmol, or HbA_{1c} level of 6.0% to 6.4%).

4 Screening and diagnosis of MAFLD

4.1 Prevalence and incidence in Australia and globally

MAFLD is the most prevalent condition affecting the liver, with an estimated global prevalence of 25%–30% in adults. ^{19,20} It is rapidly emerging as the foremost indication for liver transplantation. ^{21,22} Most epidemiological studies using the MAFLD definition have been conducted in Asia, where the prevalence varies between and within countries; in China, it is 21%–47%, in Hong Kong 26%, in South Korea 34%–38%, in Japan 35% and in Sri Lanka 33%. ²³ In comparison, studies from North America report prevalences between 20% and 38%, while there are limited data in Europe, with a study from the Netherlands in an older adult population reporting a MAFLD prevalence of 34%. ²³

In Australia, there is a paucity of high-quality epidemiological and prevalence data on MAFLD. Although a Markov-based model forecast the prevalence of MAFLD in Australia to increase by 25% over the decade to 2030, the model was reliant on imputed prevalence data extrapolated from studies conducted outside Australia.4 More recently, two population-based cross-sectional studies have evaluated prevalence using the validated Fatty Liver Index (FLI) to identify people with MAFLD. The first of these studies, performed in regional Victoria in 2018, reported a high prevalence of 47% among a predominantly older White population.9 Similarly, an analysis of the 2012 survey of the Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle (AusDiab) study reported a high MAFLD prevalence of 37%.2 Importantly, the prevalence of MAFLD is on the rise in Australia, with crude and age- and sex-standardised prevalence rates reported to have increased significantly over the past 15 years, particularly among women, in association with a parallel increase in obesity.²⁴

4.2 Prevalence in people with high-risk conditions

High-risk conditions for MAFLD are type 2 diabetes, obesity (including central obesity) and a combination of two or more metabolic risk factors. Cardiometabolic risk factors include: waist circumference ≥102 cm for White men and ≥88 cm for White women (or, for First Nations Australians and Asians, ≥90 cm for men and ≥80 cm for women); systolic blood pressure ≥130 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure ≥85 mmHg or drug treatment for high blood pressure; plasma triglyceride levels ≥1.7 mmol/L or drug treatment for elevated triglyceride levels; plasma high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels <1.0 mmol/L for men and <1.3 mmol/L for women or drug treatment for reduced HDL cholesterol levels; and prediabetes (i.e. fasting glucose levels of 6.1 to 6.9 mmol/L, or 2-h post-load glucose levels of 7.8 to 11.0 mmol, or a glycated haemoglobin [HbA_{1.2}] level of 6.0% to 6.4%).³

4.2.1 Type 2 diabetes

Type 2 diabetes is a significant risk factor for the development of MAFLD, with systematic reviews, meta-analyses and population-based studies showing a high pooled prevalence of MAFLD in people with diabetes (55%-60%). In an early low-quality metaanalysis that included 17 quantitative studies and involved 10,897 people with type 2 diabetes, the overall prevalence of MAFLD was 54% (95% CI, 45%-64%). However, there was significant heterogeneity across studies (P < 0.01).25 A further low-quality metaanalysis, in which most of the 24 studies included patients recruited from diabetes clinics or at the time of hospitalisation, found the pooled prevalence of MAFLD among 35,599 patients with type 2 diabetes was 59.7%.²⁶ More recently, a comprehensive, highquality meta-analysis of 80 quantitative studies involving 49,419 patients with type 2 diabetes found the overall prevalence of MAFLD among patients with type 2 diabetes was 55.5%, which was more than twofold higher than in the general population.²⁷ These data are consistent with the limited population data available from Australia.^{2,28} A prospective

population-based study in regional Victoria found that the overall prevalence of MAFLD among people with type 2 diabetes was 58% (95% CI, 45%–70%), with an adjusted prevalence ratio of MAFLD in people with diabetes of 1.6 (95% CI, 1.3–2.0).²⁸ Similarly, the cross-sectional analysis of the 2012 survey of the AusDiab study reported a high adjusted odds ratio for MAFLD of 3.39 (95% CI, 2.61–4.39) in patients with type 2 diabetes.²

4.2.2 Obesity

Obesity is a major risk factor for developing MAFLD. The prevalence of MAFLD in people with obesity is between 55% and 75%, depending on the geographic location of the study.^{28,29} A low-quality meta-analysis that included 21 quantitative cohort studies involving 381,655 people reported an overall 3.53-fold (95% CI, 2.48–5.03) increased risk of developing MAFLD among people with obesity, compared with those with normal body weight.30 The relative risk (RR) of MAFLD among White people with obesity was slightly lower, at 2.67 (95% CI, 1.58–4.52).30 Data from a retrospective population-based longitudinal cohort study from The Health Improvement Network (THIN) in the United Kingdom, in which 12,867 incident cases of MAFLD were diagnosed, showed a high 6.92 (95% CI, 6.40-7.48) incident risk of MAFLD among individuals with obesity compared with those with normal weight.³¹ Limited population data from Australia support these findings, with the prevalence of MAFLD in people with obesity from the CrossRoads study in regional Victoria being 76% (95% CI, 68%-83%); people with obesity had a 32-fold (95% CI, 12-86) increased risk of MAFLD compared with those with normal weight.²⁸

4.2.3 Multiple metabolic risk factors

Metabolic dysregulation, defined by the presence of at least two cardiometabolic risk factors (Table 2), independently influences the risk of developing MAFLD, as well as adverse cardiometabolic outcomes and progressive liver disease. Notably, the risk of developing MAFLD appears to significantly increase with worsening metabolic health, including in those with normal body weight. Among more than four million healthy people without MAFLD from THIN in the UK who participated in a longitudinal follow-up study, those who had normal body weight or were overweight but who had two or more metabolic

Table 2. Major metabolic risk factors for MAFLD

Risk factor	Prevalence of MAFLD ^{28,33}
Overweight	30%
Obesity	55%–75%
Type 2 diabetes	55%–60%
Dyslipidaemia	55%
Hypertension	50%
Metabolic syndrome	70%

MAFLD = metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease.

abnormalities had a 2.4- and 9.6-fold increased risk of incident MAFLD, respectively, compared with metabolically healthy people of normal weight.³¹

4.4 Does screening for MAFLD meet Wilson and Jungner criteria?

Screening for MAFLD in primary care meets most of the Wilson and Jungner criteria for screening (see Appendix 1). MAFLD is an important public health problem (criterion 1)4 that has a well understood natural history (criterion 7),34 including timelines to progression (criterion 4), as well as prognostic factors in relation to who is most at risk of an adverse outcome and hence suitable for treatment (criterion 8).35 The diagnosis can be made safely, inexpensively and readily using imaging, particularly liver ultrasound (criteria 3, 5 and 6) (see section 4.6.1). Accepted treatment involving lifestyle and dietary modification is available for patients with recognised disease, with effective pharmacotherapy likely to be approved in Australia in the near future (criteria 2 and 3).36 In addition, there are limited data, albeit from overseas, to suggest screening for MAFLD is cost-effective, particularly if treatment is offered to those at risk of worsening disease (criterion 9).

4.5 Cost-effectiveness of screening for MAFLD

There are limited studies evaluating the costeffectiveness of screening for MAFLD, with few specifically addressing primary care and all being reliant on Markov modelling or decision tree analysis. Moreover, most studies evaluating the costeffectiveness of screening have focused on those at higher risk of MAFLD, including patients with type 2 diabetes or metabolic syndrome, and have predominantly used liver ultrasound as the screening tool, typically followed by transient elastography using FibroScan®. Limited evidence from overseas suggests that screening for MAFLD could be cost-effective, provided there is treatment (including lifestyle intervention) available to those at risk of advanced liver disease.

Two modelling studies assessed screening approaches for MAFLD in people with type 2 diabetes and found that screening had either limited cost-effectiveness in certain scenarios or was not cost-effective. 37,38 The first study was a cost utility analysis in a modelled population of patients with type 2 diabetes where nearly a third had F2 fibrosis or greater at baseline. This model assumed patients underwent a 1-year intensive lifestyle modification or pioglitazone treatment that led to fibrosis regression or resolution. It found that screening with ultrasound and liver enzyme tests was cost-effective, assuming that liver biopsy was not done. Other approaches using liver biopsy to assess non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) or fibrosis were found to be less effective and more costly than no screening.37 A second modelling study from the United States of screening with liver ultrasound versus no screening in people with type 2 diabetes did not show cost-effectiveness of screening. Lack of cost-effectiveness was partly due to the side effects of liver biopsy and intolerance of the recommended therapy of pioglitazone.³⁸ A further modelling study from Thailand assessed the costeffectiveness of ultrasound screening for MAFLD using local data of MAFLD prevalence in a population with metabolic syndrome.³⁹ Screening with ultrasound, coupled with an intensive weight management program, was found to be cost-effective compared with no screening and reduced progression to advanced liver disease, with an attendant reduction in costs.³⁹ However, this study has low generalisability to the Australian context, given the different population, varying health care utilisation and significantly lower willingness-to-pay threshold.

A more recent study used modelling to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of various non-invasive strategies to correctly identify high-risk patients among those with MAFLD at a community or primary care level.⁴⁰ The investigators found that shear wave elastography

(SWE)-based strategies were the most cost-effective for diagnosing ≥F2 fibrosis. For ≥F3 fibrosis, the FIB-4 Index, followed by SWE, was the most effective and least costly strategy.⁴⁰ Similarly, a modelling analysis to assess the cost-effectiveness of different non-invasive strategies for detecting cirrhosis among patients with MAFLD found that the FIB-4 Index, followed by vibration-controlled transient elastography (VCTE) using FibroScan[®], magnetic resonance elastography (MRE) or liver biopsy, detected cirrhosis in patients with MAFLD with a high level of accuracy and low cost.⁴¹

Hence, there is a lack of data on which to base recommendations on the cost-effectiveness of screening for MAFLD in an Australian primary care population. Further studies using local populations, costs and therapies are needed to better understand the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness, benefits and possible harms of screening, as well as which high-risk subgroups should be targeted.

Practice points:

 Assessment for MAFLD among people with obesity, type 2 diabetes or at least two metabolic risk factors, regardless of body weight, should be performed based on the high prevalence rates in these populations, known natural history, acceptable diagnostic tests and opportunity to intervene to alter the natural history.

Implementation considerations:

 Data on the cost-effectiveness of screening for MAFLD in the Australian context are limited, and modelling studies in an Australian primary care population are needed.

Recommendation 1

Adults with obesity and/or type 2 diabetes mellitus or two or more metabolic risk factors* should be assessed for MAFLD.

* See section 4.2.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

4.6 Diagnostic methods for MAFLD

The detection and diagnosis of hepatic steatosis (i.e. fatty liver) in at-risk populations can be made by several different screening modalities, including imaging and non-commercial or commercial biomarker tests.

4.6.1 Imaging modalities

4.6.1.1 Liver ultrasound

Liver ultrasound is a widely studied, freely available and relatively inexpensive imaging modality to detect hepatic steatosis in primary care. It has consistently demonstrated good to very good accuracy in the detection of fatty liver. In a moderate-quality updated systematic review and meta-analysis, the area under the curve (AUC), sensitivity and specificity of ultrasound were 0.87, 82% and 87%, respectively, for the detection of hepatic steatosis of ≥5%, and 0.92, 85% and 85%, respectively, for hepatic steatosis ≥30%.⁴² Similar good to very good performance characteristics of liver ultrasound for the detection of fatty liver were obtained in an earlier meta-analysis that included more studies and patients but was of low quality overall.⁴³ However, liver ultrasound has its limitations, including a degree of operator dependency in test performance and reduced sensitivity in certain populations, including those with obesity or with mild hepatic steatosis.

4.6.1.2 Controlled attenuation parameter

Controlled attenuation parameter (CAP) using FibroScan® is a relatively new and accurate ultrasoundbased modality to detect hepatic steatosis. In a recent high-quality meta-analysis using individual patient data from 13 quantitative studies involving 2346 patients, 95% of whom had obesity, CAP demonstrated good accuracy in detecting any hepatic steatosis (i.e. grade S0 vs grades S1-3) in patients with MAFLD, with an AUC of 0.81 and summary sensitivity and specificity of 79% and 73%, respectively.44 However, CAP was less able to differentiate between degrees of steatosis (i.e. grades S0-1 vs S2-3) in patients with MAFLD, with the AUC, sensitivity and specificity being 0.75, 78% and 62%, respectively. Similar results were obtained in an earlier high-quality meta-analysis of individual patient data involving 19 studies and 2735 patients,

in which the diagnostic performance of CAP to detect any (S1–3), moderate to severe (S2–3) or severe (S3) hepatic steatosis, as measured by AUC, was 0.82, 0.86 and 0.88, respectively.⁴⁵ Although these performance characteristics are promising, there are limited available data on the accuracy of CAP as a screening tool in the primary care setting. Furthermore, important covariates, such as body mass index (BMI) and diabetes, increase CAP readings independently of steatosis grade and should be considered when interpreting CAP results in patients with MAFLD.⁴⁴ Finally, CAP is only available as part of a FibroScan® assessment and thus is not freely available in the community and has no specific Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) rebate.

4.6.1.3 Magnetic resonance imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) appears to be the best of the available imaging modalities to detect and quantify hepatic steatosis. In a meta-analysis involving 21 studies and 1658 patients, the diagnostic accuracy of MRI using any technique (i.e. MRI, MRE or magnetic resonance spectroscopy) was high, with pooled AUC, sensitivity and specificity of 0.90, 82% and 86%, respectively.⁴⁶ Of the three techniques studied, MRI had the best diagnostic accuracy, with an AUC of 0.95 (95% CI, 0.93–0.97), sensitivity of 91% and specificity of 90%. In comparison, the pooled AUC, sensitivity and specificity were 0.88, 91%, and 82%, respectively, for magnetic resonance spectroscopy, and 0.89, 77% and 86%, respectively, for MRE. However, MRI is expensive to perform and not readily accessible nor eligible for an MBS rebate for this indication.

4.6.2 Biomarkers

Several non-commercial biomarkers have been evaluated to identify or detect MAFLD at a population level, including the FLI, hepatic steatosis index, MAFLD liver fat score, visceral adiposity index and triglyceride 9 glucose index. These biomarkers are typically composed of a mixture of clinical and laboratory parameters that reflect underlying obesity and metabolic dysfunction. All appear to be confounded by fibrosis and inflammation, typically have a proportion of patients who fall into an "indeterminate range" and do not accurately quantify steatosis, which may limit their clinical utility. Validation studies have demonstrated variable

accuracy, with an AUC for detection of fatty liver between 0.70 and 0.90.47,48 Of these biomarkers, the FLI — consisting of waist circumference, BMI and serum triglyceride and gamma-glutamyl transferase levels — has been most studied and validated, particularly at a population or community level, with an AUC between 0.79 and 0.83.49 In a moderatequality systematic review and meta-analysis involving 10 studies and 27,221 patients, an FLI cut-off <30 had a sensitivity of 81%, specificity of 65% and negative predictive value (NPV) of 84% to rule out MAFLD, whereas an FLI cut-off >60 had sensitivity, specificity and positive predictive value (PPV) of 44%, 90% and 67%, respectively, to rule in MAFLD.⁴⁹ Although noncommercial and inexpensive biomarkers, such as the FLI, are suited to population-based studies of MAFLD, they are not well suited to screening for MAFLD in primary care because of the multiple components required (including anthropometric and laboratory variables) and lack of automation of their complex algorithms.

In comparison, there are few commercial biomarkers to detect hepatic steatosis. The SteatoTest and next-generation SteatoTest 2 blood biomarker tests have been evaluated to detect MAFLD. Most studies of these two commercial biomarkers have been of low quality, but both tests appear to have suboptimal accuracy for fatty liver disease, with AUCs ranging from 0.63 to 0.82 in patients with MAFLD, 0.73 in people with type 2 diabetes and 0.78 in people with obesity. Furthermore, these tests are expensive and not readily available in Australia.

Practice points:

- Liver ultrasound has very good diagnostic performance to detect hepatic steatosis and is both inexpensive and readily available in the community.
- Clinicians should be aware of the lower sensitivity of ultrasound in patients with obesity or a low degree of hepatic steatosis.

Implementation considerations:

- CAP and MRI are not readily accessible in the community and do not attract an MBS rebate for diagnosis of hepatic steatosis.
- Non-commercial biomarkers are not well suited to screening for MAFLD in primary care because of the multiple components required and the complex algorithms involved.
- Commercial biomarker tests for hepatic steatosis are expensive and not readily available in Australia.

Recommendation 2

Liver ultrasound should be the first-line test to diagnose hepatic steatosis in people at high risk of MAFLD.

Quality of evidence: Moderate Strength of recommendation: Strong

5 Assessment of coexisting conditions in MAFLD

5.1 Role of metabolic dysfunction in pathogenesis of MAFLD

MAFLD has a complex and incompletely understood pathogenesis, mediated by environmental and genetic factors, as well as the gut microbiome, but a key underlying mechanism is the presence of metabolic dysfunction and insulin resistance. Overnutrition, where energy intake exceeds metabolic needs, leads to expansion of visceral adipose tissue. Subsequent inflammation of adipose tissue, due to cellular stress from excess fats, leads to insulin resistance and systemic inflammation, causing increased circulating free fatty acids (FFAs). Increased delivery of FFAs to the liver and de novo hepatic lipogenesis then occur, with toxic lipid formation activating the inflammasome, causing oxidative stress and ultimately hepatocyte damage and activation of fibrogenesis.⁵²

5.2 Coexisting metabolic conditions in people with MAFLD

By definition, MAFLD is associated with several metabolic conditions, including obesity, type 2 diabetes, dyslipidaemia and hypertension. The relationship between MAFLD and these metabolic conditions is bidirectional: the presence of these conditions increases the risk of MAFLD development, as well as progression to advanced liver disease, but, conversely, the presence of MAFLD is associated with an increased likelihood of developing coexisting metabolic conditions. Due to shared risk factors and pathogenic mechanisms, MAFLD is also associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD), chronic kidney disease (CKD) and obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA), as well as polycystic ovary syndrome. Given the increased prevalence and incidence of these conditions and their impact on MAFLD severity, it is recommended that patients with MAFLD are routinely screened for these comorbidities. Furthermore, it is important to recognise that quality of life and diseaserelated morbidity in people with MAFLD may be dominated by coexisting metabolic conditions, rather

than by MAFLD itself, emphasising the need to assess and manage these conditions.

MAFLD may also be associated with other coexisting conditions, such as mental health disorders and an increased risk of extrahepatic malignancies.⁵³ At this time, there are insufficient data to make specific recommendations to screen for these conditions in patients with MAFLD outside of the recommendations applicable to the general population.

5.3 Obesity in people with MAFLD

Obesity is common in people with MAFLD and is associated with disease progression and other metabolic complications. Prevalence estimates for obesity range from 51% in patients diagnosed with MAFLD to 82% in patients with metabolic steatohepatitis (MASH), which is the inflammatory form of MAFLD and is defined by the presence of lobular inflammation and hepatocyte ballooning. ¹⁹ In an Australian cohort of 705 patients, 69% of patients with MAFLD had obesity. ²⁸

The Australian Obesity Management Algorithm (https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/\$1871403X22000709) is recommended for the assessment and management of obesity. This algorithm uses BMI and waist circumference as measures of obesity (Table 3). It recognises that BMI has limitations and that the presence of abdominal obesity is more strongly associated with metabolic risk. Population-specific cut-offs for Asian and Australian First Nations peoples are provided in the algorithm.

The algorithm also offers guidance for assessment of obesity-related complications and recommends that these assessments be repeated regularly, given the chronic nature of obesity. In addition to MAFLD, the algorithm recommends assessment for type 2 diabetes, CVD, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease, OSA, asthma, idiopathic intracranial hypertension, arthralgia, lymphoedema, reproductive hormonal dysfunction, disordered eating and depression.

Table 3. Classification of weight by BMI and waist circumference*

Classification	General population BMI (kg/m²)	Population-specific BMI (kg/m²)†	General population waist circumference (cm)	Population-specific waist circumference (cm) [†]
Normal range	18.5–24.9	18.5–22.9	Female <80 Male <94	
Overweight	25.0–29.9	23.0–27.4	Female 80–88 Male 94–102	
Class I obesity	30.0–34.9	27.5–32.4	Female >88 Male >102	Female >80 Male >90
Class II obesity	35.0–39.9	32.5–37.4		
Class III obesity	≥40	≥37.5		

BMI = body mass index.

Recommendation 3

People with obesity and MAFLD should be assessed in accordance with the Australian Obesity Management Algorithm.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

5.4 Type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD

5.4.1 Prevalence of type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD

Up to a quarter of patients with MAFLD have type 2 diabetes. In a large meta-analysis of more than 2.6 million individuals with MAFLD, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes was 19.7%,⁵⁵ whereas a meta-analysis of 21 studies reported a prevalence of 24.7%.⁸ Both meta-analyses reported high heterogeneity in type 2 diabetes prevalence across the included studies. In regional Western Australia and Victoria, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD (diagnosed by the FLI) was 11% and 19%, respectively.^{28,56} A prevalence of 19% was found in the AusDiab study.² Notably, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes increases with severity of underlying liver histology, with a prevalence of 22.5% reported in patients with MAFLD and 43.6% in patients with MASH.¹⁹

In contrast to type 2 diabetes, MAFLD presence and severity are less well defined in people with type 1 diabetes or other forms of diabetes mellitus, such as gestational diabetes or type 3 diabetes (according to

the World Health Organization diabetes classification). Thus, recommendations pertaining to type 2 diabetes and MAFLD assessment for presence and severity do not apply to other forms of diabetes.

5.4.2 Significance of type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD

The relationship between MAFLD and type 2 diabetes appears to be bidirectional. MAFLD may precede and increase the risk of incident type 2 diabetes by at least twofold, with greater risk in those with more advanced fibrosis. ⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹ Conversely, type 2 diabetes is a strong risk factor for the development of MAFLD and progression of hepatic fibrosis in people with MAFLD. A cross-sectional study of more than 1000 patients with MAFLD found that a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes was associated with hepatic fibrosis (adjusted odds ratio, 2.57). ⁶⁰ In a study of 447 patients with paired liver biopsies, patients with advanced fibrosis at both index and follow-up biopsy were more likely to have type 2 diabetes, and type 2 diabetes was an independent predictor of fibrosis progression (odds ratio, 1.69). ⁶¹

Additionally, type 2 diabetes is associated with a higher risk of liver decompensation and HCC developing in patients with MAFLD. A meta-analysis of individual patient-level data for 2016 people with MAFLD found that those with type 2 diabetes had significantly higher 5-year cumulative incidence of liver decompensation than did those without type 2 diabetes (13.85% vs 3.95%), with type 2 diabetes and HbA_{1c} level being independently associated with a 2.1-fold and 1.3-fold higher risk, respectively, of hepatic

^{*} Adapted from Markovic et al.54

[†] Cut-offs apply to Asian populations and recommended for Australian First Nations populations.

decompensation.⁶² Confirmatory data from Australia found type 2 diabetes to be associated with a 4.7-fold higher risk of liver decompensation and a 2.9-fold higher risk of HCC in a hospital-based cohort of 284 patients who were followed for 51 months. 63 A larger data-linked cohort of 8006 patients in Queensland also found type 2 diabetes to be a risk factor for decompensation (adjusted hazard ratio, 2.8) over a median 4.6 years of follow-up.⁶⁴ A similar magnitude of risk was found in a retrospective cohort of 271,906 patients with MAFLD in the US, which found that type 2 diabetes was independently associated with a 2.77-fold higher risk of HCC compared with patients without type 2 diabetes.⁶⁵ Type 2 diabetes has been associated with an increased risk of HCC across other liver disease aetiologies, 66 but the risk appears to be strongest in those with MAFLD. 65,67 Notably, the risk of HCC related to type 2 diabetes also increases with each additional metabolic comorbidity (dyslipidaemia, obesity, hypertension), highlighting the risk of severe metabolic dysfunction for liver-related outcomes. 65,68

Practice points:

- People with MAFLD have a high prevalence of underlying type 2 diabetes, which is associated with a higher risk of liver fibrosis, liver decompensation and HCC in this population.
- Screening for type 2 diabetes using fasting blood glucose or HbA_{1c} levels should be performed according to the Australian Type 2 Diabetes Risk Assessment Tool (https://www.health.gov.au/ resources/apps-and-tools/the-australian-type-2diabetes-risk-assessment-tool-ausdrisk).

Recommendation 4

People with MAFLD should be assessed for undiagnosed type 2 diabetes using measurement of fasting blood glucose or HbA_{1c} levels.

Quality of evidence: Moderate Strength of recommendation: Strong

5.5 Cardiovascular disease risk in people with MAFLD

5.5.1 Prevalence of other cardiovascular risk factors in people with MAFLD

Hypertension and dyslipidaemia characterised by hypertriglyceridaemia and low HDL cholesterol levels are also common metabolic conditions in people with MAFLD. In large meta-analyses, both hypertension and dyslipidaemia were present in 40%-50% of patients with MAFLD, although results across studies appear to be heterogeneous.^{8,19,55} A meta-analysis of 116 studies involving 2.6 million individuals in the general population found the prevalence of hypertension, hypertriglyceridaemia and low HDL cholesterol levels to be 42%, 46% and 54%, respectively, in people with MAFLD who had obesity or were overweight.55 In the Australian context, the prevalence of hypertension was 37% among 626 patients with MAFLD referred from primary care to a tertiary hepatology clinic. 69 Crosssectional data from rural Victoria found prevalences of hypertension and dyslipidaemia of 66% and 63%, respectively, in people with MAFLD, compared with 48% and 43%, respectively, in those without MAFLD.²⁸

5.5.2 Risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in people with MAFLD

Among people with MAFLD, CVD is the most common cause of death, being responsible for a quarter of all deaths. 70 MAFLD is associated with an increased risk of CVD-related morbidity and mortality, in part due to its association with established cardiovascular risk factors. However, it has also been proposed that MAFLD may confer increased CVD risk independently of these other factors.71 Notably, in a meta-analysis of seven cohort studies comprising more than 13 million individuals, MAFLD was associated with a 50% higher risk of fatal or non-fatal CVD events, independently of age, sex, smoking and other traditional CVD risk factors. 72 MAFLD has also been specifically associated with an increased risk of non-atherosclerotic CVD, including cardiac arrhythmias, structural heart disease and heart failure.73-76

16

Practice points:

- CVD is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in people with MAFLD, with evidence suggesting an excess risk compared with individuals without MAFLD.
- Assessment and monitoring of CVD risk should be performed according to recent Australian guidelines (https://www.cvdcheck.org.au/).
- Statins are safe for patients with MAFLD, including those with compensated cirrhosis, and should not be avoided in people with MAFLD and elevated cardiovascular risk.⁷⁷

Recommendation 5

People with MAFLD should be assessed and monitored for the presence and risk of future cardiovascular disease according to current Australian guidelines.

Quality of evidence: High

Strength of recommendation: Strong

5.6 Chronic kidney disease in people with MAFLD

5.6.1 Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in people with MAFLD

CKD is another common coexisting condition in patients with MAFLD. A meta-analysis involving 10,925 patients across 21 studies found a prevalence of CKD in patients with MAFLD of 24%.8 In an updated meta-analysis of more than 1.2 million individuals, there was a 43% increased risk of incident CKD over a median follow-up period of 10 years.78 Furthermore, a study from the UK Biobank has shown MAFLD to be associated with a doubling of the risk of end-stage kidney disease (defined as renal replacement therapy in the absence of acute kidney injury), with the risk increasing further as fibrosis status worsened.79

5.6.2 Hypothesised pathogenic link of chronic kidney disease to MAFLD

CVD, CKD and metabolic dysfunction (which includes MAFLD) share a close pathophysiological interrelatedness, which can be conceptualised as

the cardiovascular-kidney-metabolic syndrome.80 Specifically, MAFLD and CKD share common cardiometabolic risk factors, such as type 2 diabetes and hypertension. However, in addition to these shared risk factors, it has been proposed that the chronic inflammatory state of visceral obesity and intestinal dysbiosis, with associated increases in gut permeability, gram-negative organisms, lipopolysaccharide levels, secondary bile acids and renal toxins, contributes to renal and hepatic injury via inflammatory and fibrotic pathways.81 Other proposed links between MAFLD and CKD include dietary fructose consumption and platelet activation. It has also been found that the PNPLA3 polymorphism, found to be a common genetic variant associated with a predisposition to steatohepatitis, is associated with renal dysfunction.82

5.7 Obstructive sleep apnoea in people with MAFLD

5.7.1 Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnoea in people with MAFLD

OSA impairs quality of life and is associated with an increased risk of cardiometabolic disease.⁸³ Not surprisingly, OSA is common among people with MAFLD, particularly in the presence of obesity. A meta-analysis found MAFLD to be associated with a 6.8-fold increased risk of OSA, which is in part mediated by obesity.⁸⁴ The prevalence of OSA in a prospective cohort of patients with MAFLD in the US was 29% in those with obesity, compared with 9% in those without obesity.⁸⁵ A study from Australia of 95 patients with type 2 diabetes and MAFLD, who were recruited from primary care and endocrinology clinics, found a high occurrence of coexisting metabolic conditions, including a 32% prevalence of OSA.⁸⁶

5.7.2 Hypothesised pathogenic link of obstructive sleep apnoea to MAFLD

OSA, through collapse of the pharyngeal airway during sleep, causes intermittent hypoxia, which in turn causes systemic oxidative stress and an increased sympathetic response. Additionally, intermittent hypoxia triggers lipolysis and alters FFA metabolism. It has also been proposed that alterations in the gut—liver axis via the effect of OSA on the gut barrier and

microbiota play a role.⁸⁷ OSA has been shown to be an independent risk factor for the development of insulin resistance,⁸⁸ most likely through the effect of sympathetic activation and inflammation on lipolysis and circulating FFAs.

It is proposed that these mechanisms contribute to the pathogenesis and progression of MAFLD in people with OSA. In patients with MAFLD, the presence of OSA is associated with increased severity of steatohepatitis and a 2.5-fold increased risk of fibrosis. 89-91 However, clinical trials have not yet demonstrated that treatment of OSA with continuous positive airway pressure therapy improves hepatic steatosis levels or serum liver enzyme levels. 92 Nonetheless, the high prevalence of OSA, coupled with its impairments to quality of life and the availability of a defined treatment strategy, warrants assessment for OSA in people with MAFLD.

Practice points:

- Screening for CKD should be performed as directed by Kidney Health Australia guidelines (https://assets.kidney.org.au/resources/KHA-CKD-Handbook-5th-Ed-July2024.pdf).
- Screening for symptoms of OSA should be considered in patients with MAFLD, particularly those with other conditions associated with a high prevalence of OSA, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes and treatment-resistant hypertension.
- Screening tools such as the STOP-BANG questionnaire can be used to screen for OSA.⁹³

Recommendation 6

Baseline assessment for potential coexisting conditions of chronic kidney disease and obstructive sleep apnoea should be considered for people with MAFLD.

Quality of evidence: Moderate Strength of recommendation: Weak

6 Assessment of underlying liver disease

6.1. Assessment of other causes of fatty liver

6.1.1. Other causes of fatty liver

Although metabolic dysfunction related to excess adiposity and type 2 diabetes is the major cause of fatty liver, other causes (outlined in Box 1) should be considered because they will have different prognoses and treatments. Excess alcohol consumption (see section 6.1.2) and use of medications that can result in hepatic steatosis are relatively common in patients presenting to a GP. Corticosteroids, including prednisolone, cause metabolic dysfunction through weight gain and generation of insulin resistance, with resultant hepatic steatosis and steatohepatitis. Advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis due to corticosteroids appears to be rare, and the dose and duration required to cause fatty liver are unknown. In contrast, chronic methotrexate and amiodarone use has been associated with steatohepatitis and progressive liver injury, resulting in cirrhosis, and should be carefully evaluated in patients with fatty liver.94 Genotype 3 hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection interferes with hepatic lipid metabolism and export and may cause fatty liver. People at risk of HCV infection include those with a history of injecting drugs, people in custodial settings, sexual partners of HCV-positive individuals and migrants from high-prevalence regions (Egypt, Pakistan, the Mediterranean, Eastern Europe, Africa and Asia).95

Box 1. Common causes of fatty liver

- Overweight and obesity
- Type 2 diabetes
- Alcohol
- Medications (including corticosteroids, methotrexate, antipsychotics, valproate, amiodarone and tamoxifen)
- Hepatitis C (genotype 3)

Practice points:

 People with MAFLD should be assessed for additional causes of fatty liver and liver disease, including alcohol, medications, drug-induced liver injury and viral hepatitis, by taking a thorough medical history and using targeted serological testing if appropriate.

Recommendation 7

People with MAFLD should be assessed for other common causes of fatty liver and liver disease.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

6.1.2 Epidemiology of alcohol use and alcohol-related liver disease in Australia

Harmful alcohol use is common among patients managed in primary care and is responsible for about a third of all deaths due to liver disease. 96 About 5% of Australians drink alcohol on a daily basis, and 27% consume an average of more than 10 standard drinks a week or consumed more than five drinks in any day at least monthly in the past 12 months. 97 In Australia in 2016, the prevalence of alcohol use disorder (defined as including harmful use of alcohol and alcohol dependence, according to the *Diagnostic* and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition) was estimated at 4.4% (6.1% in men, 2.7% in women).98 The 2018 Australian Burden of Disease Study found alcohol use contributed to 40% of the burden related to liver cancer and 19% of the burden of chronic liver disease.97 Correspondingly, alcohol consumption accounted for 39% of all deaths due to liver cancer in Australia in 2018.99

6.1.3 Impact of alcohol use on outcomes in people with MAFLD

Alcohol ingestion may result in hepatic steatosis, with alcohol-related fatty liver disease developing in 90% of people who drink more than 40 g of alcohol (or

four standard drinks) a day over a sustained period (months or years), of whom 8%–20% will develop alcohol-related liver cirrhosis. 100 Alcohol-related fatty liver disease combined with MAFLD related to excess adiposity and/or type 2 diabetes increases the risk of acute alcoholic hepatitis and cirrhosis, and both conditions should therefore be assessed in people presenting with fatty liver. 101,102 Moderate alcohol consumption (average of 10–30 g/day), which may not be sufficient to cause fatty liver, has been associated in some studies with an increased risk of advanced liver fibrosis in patients with MAFLD. 103

Practice points:

- The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT-C) is a short three-question tool that can be used to screen for alcohol use disorder, but it may miss potentially harmful lower levels of consumption.
- Australian National Health and Medical Research Council guidelines (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/health-advice/alcohol) recommend that healthy men and women should drink no more than 10 standard drinks a week and no more than four standard drinks on any one day, although it is recognised that the risk of harm is lower when less alcohol is consumed.⁹⁸
- Patients with cirrhosis should completely abstain from alcohol because of the increased risk of HCC and decompensation.¹⁰⁴

Recommendation 8

People with MAFLD should undergo screening for harmful alcohol use.

Quality of evidence: Moderate Strength of recommendation: Strong

6.2. Assessment of alternative causes of liver disease

6.2.1 Assessment of chronic viral hepatitis in people with MAFLD

Infection with viral hepatitis B or C is a common cause of chronic liver disease in Australia and should

be assessed as a potential cause of elevated serum aminotransferase levels among people with MAFLD.

An estimated 74,400 people were living with chronic hepatitis C (CHC) infection in Australia at the end of 2022, with 9500 having cirrhosis. ¹⁰⁵ The prevalence of CHC infection is higher in at-risk groups, being 12% among people who inject drugs and attend needle and syringe programs.

Chronic hepatitis B (CHB) is also relatively common in Australia and is present in 0.8% of the general population, with an estimated 200,385 people living with the infection at the end of 2021. The prevalence of CHB infection is higher in certain populations in Australia, being 5% among people who were born in north-east Asia, 4% among those born in south-east Asia, 2% among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and 4% among gay and bisexual men. 106

In addition to screening people with MAFLD who have elevated serum aminotransferase levels, consideration should be given to screening people at higher risk of having CHB or CHC infection, including those born in endemic areas (central, south-east and north-east Asia; Pacific islands; north, central and sub-Saharan Africa; and southern and eastern Europe), people who inject drugs, men who have sex with men, people who have ever been incarcerated and those who have close contacts with CHB or CHC infection.95,107 Antiviral treatment is well tolerated and universally recommended for CHC infection; of the 5210 people who received HCV treatment in 2022, 94% were cured. 105 Treatment for CHB infection is recommended for people with an elevated hepatitis B viral load and elevated alanine aminotransferase (ALT) level or those who have advanced liver disease. Importantly, appropriate treatment reduces the risk of development of HCC and cirrhosis. 95,107,108

Over the past few years, there has been a change in the recommended upper reference limits of ALT level due to modification of the analytical methods in chemical pathology and recognition that "healthy control" populations may have included people with metabolic risk factors and fatty liver. Harmonisation of reference ranges for serum ALT levels in Australia has been recommended by the Australasian Association for Clinical Biochemistry

and Laboratory Medicine and endorsed by the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia, with the upper limits for men and women being 40 U/L and 35 U/L, respectively. 110

Practice points:

- An elevated serum ALT level of >40 U/L for men and >35 U/L for women¹¹⁰ should trigger assessment of risk factors for CHB and CHC infection, noting that acute intercurrent illness and comorbidities may affect liver enzyme levels.
- Screening for viral hepatitis C and B should be performed with HCV antibody testing (and reflex testing for HCV RNA) and hepatitis B serological testing, respectively.

Recommendation 9

People with MAFLD and elevated serum aminotransferase levels should undergo baseline evaluation for hepatitis B and C infection.

Quality of evidence: Moderate Strength of recommendation: Strong

6.2.2 Assessment of iron overload in people with MAFLD

Hyperferritinaemia is common among people with MAFLD, with studies from tertiary centres finding that up to a third of patients with MAFLD have elevated serum ferritin levels (>200 ng/mL in women and >300 ng/mL in men), but less than 10% have

an elevated transferrin saturation (>45%). 111-113 An elevated transferrin saturation value should precipitate testing for genetic haemochromatosis. Elevated serum ferritin levels usually reflect the systemic inflammatory state and metabolic dysfunction, rather than significant iron load, and are correlated with liver steatosis, insulin resistance and male sex. 111,112,114 Hepatic iron content may be mildly increased in up to half of these patients; however, phlebotomy is not indicated as it does not reduce the underlying metabolic dysfunction or liver injury. 115,116

Hereditary haemochromatosis, caused by homozygous C282Y mutations in the *HFE* gene, occurs in about one in 200 Australians and thus may coexist in people with MAFLD. Liver disease is one of the most common manifestations of hereditary haemochromatosis, and screening is therefore recommended among individuals with elevated aminotransferase levels.¹¹⁷ Individuals with an elevated serum ferritin level and transferrin saturation should go on to have genetic testing for *HFE* gene mutations.

Recommendation 10

People with MAFLD and elevated serum aminotransferase levels should undergo evaluation for iron overload.

Quality of evidence: Moderate
Strength of recommendation: Strong

7 Assessment of liver fibrosis

7.1 Prevalence and significance of liver fibrosis in people with MAFLD

People with MAFLD may develop liver injury and inflammation (known as steatohepatitis), which can lead to liver fibrosis. Liver fibrosis is typically quantified from a liver biopsy using a staging score that categorises its severity on a graded scale from zero (no fibrosis) to one (mild fibrosis), two (significant fibrosis), three (advanced fibrosis) and four (equivalent to cirrhosis). 118,119 The prevalence of advanced fibrosis (i.e. stages 3 and 4) among people with MAFLD in general population studies from overseas ranges from 3.0% to 7.4%, 120-122 with a prevalence of 7.6% seen in a primary care population. 123 In Australia, a study of 704 people from rural Victoria found a 3.3% prevalence of advanced fibrosis among those with MAFLD, and a similar prevalence of 3.9% was found in 504 people from a primary care clinic in Brisbane. 24,124

A small but not insignificant proportion (up to 10%) of people with MAFLD develop liver decompensation or HCC over 10 to 20 years. 125,126 The onset of these complications heralds significant morbidity, impaired quality of life and reduced life expectancy. A key prognostic factor for liver decompensation, HCC, liverrelated mortality and overall mortality is the presence of fibrosis, with the risk particularly increasing with advanced fibrosis (stages 3 and 4). 125,127,128 A metaanalysis of 13 studies involving 4428 patients with MAFLD showed that, compared with those without fibrosis, patients with stage 3 fibrosis had higher allcause mortality (RR, 2.1; 95% CI, 1.7-2.7) and liverrelated mortality (RR, 6.6; 95% CI, 2.0-22.2).128 A more recent meta-analysis of more than 17,000 patients consolidated these findings, showing a 7.6-fold (95% CI, 2.8–20.5) increase in risk of liver-related mortality among patients with advanced fibrosis.35

Recently, it has been highlighted that advanced fibrosis (stage 3) and cirrhosis (stage 4) exist as a spectrum of disease severity that heralds an increased risk of developing clinically significant portal hypertension and, thus, complications such as ascites, variceal bleeding and hepatic encephalopathy. This overlapping

of advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis is termed compensated advanced chronic liver disease (cACLD) and is interchangeable with advanced liver fibrosis (stages 3 and 4).¹²⁹ Non-invasive tests have been optimised for the detection of this endpoint, and their results may be reported as probability or risk of having advanced liver fibrosis or cACLD.

7.2 Rationale for non-invasive staging of liver fibrosis

Early identification of people at higher risk of adverse liver-related outcomes provides an opportunity for intervention to reduce disease progression and enable referral for specialist hepatology care before liver-related complications develop. Liver biopsy remains the reference standard for assessment of liver fibrosis, although the accuracy of the result is influenced by the size of the tissue sample and the experience of the liver pathologist. 119,130,131 Liver biopsy is also invasive, costly and not scalable; hence, it is not a suitable screening test for fibrosis and has limited use in monitoring disease progression.

Non-invasive tests are increasingly used to predict the likelihood of advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis. They allow rapid point-of-care prognostication and can assist in determining clinical management priorities and the need for specialist referral or additional investigations. Data from a meta-analysis of individual patient data from 2518 patients with biopsy-proven MAFLD in 25 studies highlighted that simple non-invasive tests performed as well as histological assessment of fibrosis (using liver biopsy) in predicting clinical outcomes in patients with MAFLD.¹³²

7.3 Types and use of non-invasive tests for liver fibrosis

Non-invasive tests for liver fibrosis can be classified into three broad groups:

 blood tests, including simple scores using routinely available laboratory variables with or without clinical variables, and "direct" serum tests that typically incorporate serum markers of fibrogenesis or fibrinolysis

- elastography methods assessing physical properties of the liver (e.g. liver stiffness)
- imaging methods, such as standard ultrasound or computed tomography (CT), which assess the anatomy of the liver and features of portal hypertension.

These strategies are complementary, and all available data need to be considered together to reach an accurate assessment of fibrosis severity. Importantly, standard liver function tests, including measurement of bilirubin, aminotransferase and albumin levels, are not accurate in detecting advanced liver fibrosis and may even give normal results in the presence of cirrhosis. ^{133,134} Similarly, ultrasound and CT are inaccurate for determining advanced fibrosis and lack sensitivity for determining cirrhosis. ¹³⁵ Thus, specific diagnostic non-invasive tests for liver fibrosis are required for accurate staging in people with MAFLD.

Most non-invasive tests have been developed to diagnose advanced liver fibrosis or cirrhosis. They are not accurate for diagnosing mild to moderate fibrosis and cannot discriminate between contiguous fibrosis stages. Each non-invasive test has specific advantages and limitations, with no single test being perfect. 136

The diagnostic performance of a non-invasive test depends on the prevalence of advanced fibrosis in the population under evaluation.¹³⁷ In populations with a low prevalence of advanced fibrosis, such as in primary care, the pre-test probability of a negative test result is high, whereas the pre-test probability of a positive result is low. Thus, non-invasive tests tend to have high NPVs and low PPVs when used in primary care. Non-invasive test thresholds may be chosen to have lower sensitivity (probability that a patient with advanced fibrosis tests positive) and higher specificity (probability that a patient without advanced fibrosis tests negative). 136 Therefore, in an unselected general population where the prevalence of MAFLD with advanced fibrosis is <5%, non-invasive tests have a greater utility to "rule out" advanced fibrosis using low-risk scores. Further tests are required for people with indeterminate or high-risk scores to confirm the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis. Given

their utility in accurately risk-stratifying patients with MAFLD, the use of non-invasive tests in the assessment of MAFLD is supported by the practice guidelines of key international societies and expert opinion. 138-143

Recommendation 11

Non-invasive testing should be offered to people with MAFLD to assess their risk of liver fibrosis.

Quality of evidence: Moderate Strength of recommendation: Strong

7.4 First-line testing for liver fibrosis

The FIB-4 Index is a non-commercial, low-cost, non-invasive test using common laboratory test results that are widely available in clinical practice (aspartate aminotransferase [AST], ALT and platelet count). The algorithm of age [years] × AST [U/L]/(platelet count [10°/L] × VALT [U/L]) can be easily performed using online calculators. FIB-4 has been broadly validated as an accurate predictor of advanced fibrosis in people with MAFLD, with a meta-analysis of 37 studies involving 5735 individuals finding a summary AUC statistic of 0.76.¹⁴⁴ It is useful even in patients with normal-range liver enzyme levels and has been validated in many different centres and in ethnically different populations with MAFLD. ¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷

The interpretation of FIB-4 is aided by lower and upper cut-offs, which translate to low and high risk, respectively, of advanced liver fibrosis. A lower FIB-4 score cut-off of 1.3 is 74% (95% CI, 72%–76%) sensitive for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis, whereas a cut-off of 2.67 is 94% (95% CI, 93%–94%) specific. 144 Results between these cut-offs are indeterminate. In a primary care population where the prevalence of advanced fibrosis is relatively low, at between 5% and 10%, the NPV of a FIB-4 score <1.3 is 95%–97%, highlighting its utility in excluding patients with advanced fibrosis. In contrast, the PPV of a FIB-4 score >2.67 is only 24%–40% in primary care settings, showing the need for further confirmatory testing. 144

The utility of FIB-4 as a first-line test for fibrosis assessment is confirmed by its prognostic ability,

which stratifies the risk of adverse liver outcomes in people with MAFLD. In an Australian cohort of 628 patients with MAFLD referred from primary care, the likelihood of those with a low FIB-4 score (<1.3) developing HCC or hepatic decompensation was 1% or lower over a median follow-up of 5 years. 69 Similarly, a meta-analysis of 25 studies involving 2518 patients with MAFLD followed for a median of 57 months found that 1% of individuals with a FIB-4 score <1.3 died or developed liver decompensation or HCC, whereas 20.8% with a FIB-4 score >2.67 reached the composite endpoint.¹³² The significantly increased risk of adverse outcomes in people with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score greater than 2.67 supports the recommendation that these patients should be referred for further assessment by a specialist in liver disease. It should also be noted that the cut-offs of 1.3 and 2.67 are specific for MAFLD, and other cut-offs are typically recommended for patients with chronic viral hepatitis.

Similar to all other biochemical assays, the FIB-4 Index has analytical variation between laboratories. Testing of AST and ALT measurements in more than 160 Australian laboratories by the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia Quality Assurance Program has shown the average analytical coefficient of variation for FIB-4 to be between 8% and 11% when age and platelet values are fixed (personal communication, Graham Jones, SydPath, St Vincent's Hospital Sydney, 9 September 2022). Thus, for simplicity, it is reasonable in clinical practice to round the upper threshold of the FIB-4 score from 2.67 to 2.7.

Age affects the accuracy of the FIB-4 Index. FIB-4 is inaccurate in people younger than 35 years, 148 although the risk of advanced liver fibrosis in young adults is very low. The specificity of FIB-4 also reduces with increasing age, such that an upper cut-off score of 2.0 is recommended for patients older than 65 years. 148

Other simple serum-based scores, including the NAFLD Fibrosis Score (NFS) and the AST to platelet ratio index (APRI), have been validated in patients with MAFLD but are less favoured due to lower accuracy. ^{149,150} More complex serum scores, which include direct markers of fibrogenesis or fibrinolysis, include the Enhanced Liver Fibrosis (ELF) score and Hepascore (see section 7.5.3).

Practice points:

- FIB-4 should not be used in people younger than 35 years of age, and an upper cut-off score of 2.0 is recommended for people older than 65 years.
- FIB-4 scores may be falsely elevated in patients
 with thrombocytopenia of non-hepatic aetiology
 (e.g. immune thrombocytopenic purpura or
 harmful alcohol use) or in those with acute
 hepatitis, so its use in these clinical scenarios
 should be avoided.
- The FIB-4 Index has a low PPV for advanced fibrosis, such that patients with a score ≥1.3 require further investigation for advanced fibrosis.

Recommendation 12

A non-invasive test, such as FIB-4, should be offered as an initial test to help "rule out" the risk of advanced liver fibrosis among people with MAFLD.

Quality of evidence: Moderate
Strength of recommendation: Strong

7.5 Second-line testing for liver fibrosis

Up to a third of individuals tested with FIB-4 will have an indeterminate score in the range of 1.3–2.7,69,151 which requires a second-line test to determine the risk of advanced fibrosis and future liver-related morbidity and mortality (Figure 2). The sequential use of non-invasive tests has similar or improved accuracy for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis compared with a single test, and it significantly reduces the proportion of patients with indeterminate results who would otherwise require a liver biopsy for definitive fibrosis staging. 144,152,153

Liver elastography (including VCTE, or FibroScan®, and SWE) or a direct serum fibrosis test (including Hepascore and ELF) is typically recommended for second-line evaluation of a patient with an indeterminate FIB-4 result, owing to the higher accuracy of these tests. The selection of a second-line test should take into account local availability and referral pathways, the potential for false positive results and cost.

Patient with MAFLD Assess for other common causes of steatosis and liver disease* Assess for risk of advanced liver fibrosis Assess cardiometabolic risk Perform FIB-4 Index Coexisting Obesity Type 2 diabetes CVD risk conditions FIB-4 score <1.3 FIB-4 score 1.3-2.7 FIB-4 score >2.7 Australian **Blood glucose** Assess for OSA Obesity vdcheck.org.au Liver lifestyle advice Elastography or direct serum test Management or HbA and CKD Algorithm **Elevated result or** Low result unsuccessful Repeat FIB-4 Repeat FIB-4 Refer to in 3 years in 2-3 years liver specialist

Figure 2. Assessment algorithm for a patient presenting with MAFLD

CKD = chronic kidney disease; CVD = cardiovascular disease; FIB-4 = Fibrosis 4; HbA_{1c} = glycated haemoglobin; MAFLD = metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease; OSA = obstructive sleep apnoea.

Recommendations are likely to be updated frequently as advances are made in the diagnosis, staging and management of MAFLD. Where possible, low-risk second-line non-invasive tests should be performed in the community to reduce unnecessary referrals to secondary care.

7.5.1 Second-line test: vibration-controlled transient elastography

VCTE, or FibroScan®, quantifies the elasticity of the liver parenchyma by sonographically measuring the velocity of an impulse induced by a mechanical driver held next to the patient's abdominal wall. Liver stiffness measurement (LSM) is quantified in kilopascals (kPa), positively correlates with liver fibrosis and allows prediction of the likelihood of advanced liver fibrosis. 154 VCTE has been extensively validated in Australia and internationally and is more accurate than the FIB-4 Index for predicting advanced liver fibrosis in people with MAFLD (AUC, 0.85; 95% CI, 0.84-0.86 vs 0.76; 95% CI, 074-0.77). An LSM cut-off of <8.0 kPa has 86% sensitivity for advanced fibrosis, whereas a cut-off of ≥15 kPa is 95% specific. 144 In a primary care population with a 5%-10% prevalence of advanced fibrosis, the NPV of an LSM <8.0 kPa is 98%–99%,

whereas the PPV of an LSM ≥15 kPa is 34%–54%. ¹⁴⁴ VCTE also provides prognostic information, with the risk of liver-related death increasing 5% per 1 kPa in an Australian cohort of 6341 individuals with MAFLD. ¹⁵⁵ VCTE can also stratify risk of future liver-related events in patients within the indeterminate FIB-4 score range (1.3–2.7); patients with a FIB-4 score ≥1.3 and LSM <8.0 kPa have an excellent prognosis, similar to those with a FIB-4 score of <1.3, whereas those with a FIB-4 score ≥1.3 and LSM ≥8.0 kPa are at an increased risk of liver-related events. ¹⁵⁶ Thus, patients with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score of 1.3–2.7 and an LSM <8.0 kPa are at low risk of advanced liver fibrosis and liver-related morbidity and can be managed in primary care.

Practice points:

- LSM may be falsely elevated in patients with conditions of acute hepatitis, cholestasis (e.g. biliary obstruction), liver congestion (e.g. right heart failure) or focal liver lesions (e.g. tumours).¹⁵⁷
- VCTE scans are less accurate with increasing BMI and are invalid in up to 20% of patients with morbid obesity (BMI >35 kg/m²).¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶⁰

^{*} Evaluate alcohol intake, medications, risk factors for viral hepatitis, and iron overload.

Implementation considerations:

- There is limited availability of VCTE devices for GPs in Australia, with most being located in major metropolitan hospital centres.
- The lack of MBS rebate for VCTE provides a disincentive for implementation due to the cost to the patient or provider.

7.5.2 Second-line test: shear wave elastography

SWE also assesses the stiffness of the liver by quantifying "shear wave" velocity or tissue displacement generated by an ultrasonic impulse, instead of a physical impulse as in VCTE. There are two main types of SWE: point SWE (pSWE), which measures the shear wave generated from one sonographic frequency, typically in one fixed region of interest; and two-dimensional SWE (2D-SWE), which measures sonographic waves in multiple frequencies, often in real time. 154 They are available via "add-on" equipment for standard ultrasound machines and thus can be incorporated into a standard ultrasound assessment. pSWE equipment is available from different manufacturers and includes the Siemens Acuson Virtual Touch Quantification (VTQ) platform and the Philips ElastPQ platform, whereas most validation of 2D-SWE has been performed with SuperSonic Imagine's Aixplorer® platform.

SWE is less well validated in patients with MAFLD, compared with VCTE, and 2D-SWE in particular requires a degree of radiological expertise, with variability in accuracy noted among less experienced operators. 161 A meta-analysis of pSWE (limited to the Siemens VTQ platform), involving 11 studies of 1209 patients, found excellent accuracy (summary AUC, 0.89; sensitivity, 80%; and specificity, 86%) for predicting advanced fibrosis in patients with MAFLD.¹⁶² A meta-analysis of four studies involving 488 patients found lower accuracy for 2D-SWE (limited to the Aixplorer® platform), with a summary AUC of 0.72, sensitivity of 72% and specificity of 72%. 162 In contrast, a prospective study directly comparing VCTE (FibroScan®), pSWE (VTQ) and 2D-SWE (Aixplorer®) found equivalent accuracy (AUCs of 0.86, 0.84 and 0.89, respectively) for diagnosing advanced liver fibrosis in 291 patients with MAFLD. 163 Additional smaller studies have shown similar or slightly lower accuracy of the Philips ElastPQ pSWE platform when

compared with VCTE for the diagnosis of advanced liver fibrosis in patients with MAFLD. 164-166

The cut-offs across most SWE platforms are not directly comparable due to technical and methodological differences. Furthermore, cut-offs for advanced fibrosis using SWE are not as widely validated as those for VCTE. 162-164

There are limited data evaluating the use of SWE in sequential stepwise non-invasive test pathways; however, one study of 577 people with suspected MAFLD found the sequential use of the FIB-4 Index followed by 2D-SWE (Aixplorer®) had the same accuracy as the sequential use of FIB-4 followed by VCTE (accuracy of 84% and 81%, respectively). Independent of the same LSM cut-off of 8 kPa was used for both VCTE and 2D-SWE (Aixplorer®), suggesting that this is a reasonable threshold to stratify risk of advanced liver fibrosis and hence the need for referral from primary care to a specialist for further assessment.

LSM performed by SWE may also be increased because of the same confounding factors that are outlined above for VCTE (i.e. acute hepatitis, cholestasis, liver congestion or focal liver lesions), so interpretation of results in patients with these conditions needs to be done with caution. The reliability of pSWE also falls with increasing patient skin-to-liver capsule distance, being unreliable in half of patients with a distance of more than 30 mm. 168 A limitation of 2D-SWE is that it may be unreliable in up to a third of patients due to high variance in measures (determined by standard deviation or coefficient of variation). 169,170 Unreliable LSM by SWE (2D-SWE or pSWE) should prompt assessment with an alternative second-line noninvasive test (VCTE, ELF test or Hepascore) or referral to a clinician with expertise in liver disease.

Implementation considerations:

- SWE is increasingly available in Australia through public and private radiology facilities.
- Rigorous attention to operator training and quality control is vital to ensure valid interpretation of SWE scan results.
- Reliability criteria should be included in SWE reports.

7.5.3 Second-line test: direct serum fibrosis tests

Direct serum fibrosis tests incorporate serum markers of fibrogenesis or fibrinolysis and thus may directly reflect the degree of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic liver disease. It is important to note that these tests are not specific to liver fibrosis and can also reflect other chronic fibrotic diseases. ¹⁷¹ Direct serum fibrosis tests have the advantage of being accessible and relatively inexpensive, although they are not rebated by the MBS.

Two direct serum fibrosis tests have limited availability in Australia: the ELF test and Hepascore. These have been shown in Australian and international studies to have greater accuracy than the FIB-4 Index for predicting advanced liver fibrosis, with Hepascore also being more accurate for predicting future hepatic decompensation, HCC and liver-related death. 149,150,172 Australian data examining the risk of future liverrelated events (including liver failure, liver-related complications or HCC) in patients with MAFLD referred from primary care further confirm the ability of noninvasive tests such as FIB-4 (but also others, including Hepascore and NFS) to predict liver-related morbidity and mortality.⁶⁹ Patients with a Hepascore < 0.6, FIB-4 score <1.3 and NFS < -1.455 have excellent outcomes, indicating that people not meeting these thresholds could be safely managed in primary care.

7.5.3.1 Enhanced Liver Fibrosis (ELF) test

The ELF test is an algorithm developed from serum levels of enzymes involved in fibrogenesis and fibrinolysis; namely, hyaluronic acid, procollagen III amino-terminal peptide and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-1. The ELF test has been widely validated and is accurate in predicting advanced liver fibrosis in patients with MAFLD, with a meta-analysis of 11 studies involving 4452 patients demonstrating a summary AUC of 0.83 (95% CI, 0.71-0.90).173 Comparative multicentre studies have shown that the accuracy of the ELF test is higher than that of FIB-4 (AUC, 0.80 vs 0.77). 149 When using a cut-off of 9.8, the sensitivity and specificity of the ELF test for advanced liver fibrosis are 65% and 86%, respectively. 173 In primary care, where the prevalence of advanced fibrosis is up to 10%, scores above and below 9.8 have a PPV of 34% and NPV of 96%. This highlights the

need to use the ELF test in combination with other assessments for risk-stratifying patients.

An ELF score cut-off of 9.8 is recommended as the threshold for referral for specialist review when using this as a second-line test in those with an indeterminate FIB-4 score (i.e. in the range of 1.3–2.7). This strategy is associated with a relatively low proportion of patients with an ELF score >9.8 (14%) who are recommended for subsequent specialist referral, and it has a low false negative rate (8%) for predicting an elevated LSM (>8 kPa). When instituted into a series of primary care practices in the UK, sequential use of FIB-4 followed by the ELF test led to a fourfold increase in the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis and an 81% reduction in unnecessary referrals. 174

7.5.3.2 Hepascore

Hepascore is an algorithm developed in Australia based on serum levels of alpha-2-macroglobulin, hyaluronic acid, bilirubin and gamma-glutamyl transferase, in combination with age and sex. It has routinely been performed in Western Australia by PathWest for patients with chronic liver disease since 2004 and predicts long-term risk of liver-related death, decompensation and HCC in patients with MAFLD. 69,175 In an Australian cohort of 271 patients with MAFLD who had undergone liver biopsy, Hepascore had similar accuracy to FibroScan® for predicting advanced fibrosis (AUC, 0.88 vs 0.80), with a threshold of 0.6 having a sensitivity of 64% and specificity of 93%. 172 The sequential use of FIB-4 Index followed by Hepascore for patients with indeterminate FIB-4 scores provided 80% diagnostic accuracy and 100% specificity, but only 50% sensitivity for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis in a study of 938 patients with MAFLD. 152 People with MAFLD referred from primary care for specialist review who have a Hepascore < 0.6 have an NPV of 97%-100% for future liver decompensation or HCC in the next 10 years, suggesting that individuals below this cut-off can be monitored in primary care. 69

7.5.3.2 Alternative direct serum fibrosis tests

Other direct serum fibrosis tests are available and have been validated internationally but are not currently available in Australia. It is anticipated that further validation and refinement of existing tests, as well as

the addition of more novel non-invasive fibrosis tests, will enhance the ability to risk-stratify people with MAFLD and thus lead to updated recommendations.

Practice points:

- Hepascore includes bilirubin as an analyte and thus may be falsely elevated in patients with haemolysis or Gilbert syndrome.
- Serum hyaluronic acid is a component of both the ELF test and Hepascore, and its level increases with food intake, suggesting that fasting tests may be preferable.¹⁷⁶

Implementation considerations:

- Direct serum fibrosis tests are potentially more accessible to patients across diverse metropolitan, regional and remote settings than elastography.
- The costs of direct serum fibrosis tests are not reimbursed by Medicare, and thus the financial cost to the patient remains a barrier to widespread adoption.

Recommendation 13

A second-line assessment with liver elastography or a direct liver fibrosis serum test should be performed in people with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score between 1.3 and 2.7. If these are unavailable, referral to a clinician with expertise in liver disease should be considered.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

Recommendation 14

People with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score >2.7 or elevated results of a direct liver fibrosis serum test or liver elastogram should be referred to a clinician with expertise in liver disease.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

7.6 People with MAFLD-related cirrhosis

People with MAFLD can silently progress to cirrhosis in the absence of significant symptoms or clinical signs.¹⁷⁷ The development of jaundice, ascites, hepatic encephalopathy or gastro-oesophageal varices indicates significant liver dysfunction or portal hypertension and heralds a significantly shortened life expectancy. 104 Laboratory signs of advanced liver disease (hyperbilirubinaemia), synthetic dysfunction (hypoalbuminaemia, elevated international normalised ratio) and portal hypertension (thrombocytopenia) may precede clinical deterioration and should initiate prompt referral to a specialist in liver disease. Imaging features of cirrhosis (nodular liver surface), in association with portal hypertension (splenomegaly, portosystemic collaterals, ascites), have >90% specificity for a diagnosis of cirrhosis and should also prompt referral.135

Recommendation 15

People with MAFLD and clinical, laboratory or imaging evidence of cirrhosis should be referred to a clinician with expertise in liver disease.

Quality of evidence: High

Strength of recommendation: Strong

8. Monitoring for progression of liver disease

8.1 Fibrosis progression in people with MAFLD

The rationale for monitoring patients with low non-invasive test scores is to detect those who develop progressive liver fibrosis, which is associated with an increased risk of future liver-related morbidity and mortality. Overall, the progression of liver fibrosis among people with MAFLD is relatively slow, with a meta-analysis of 54 observational studies and clinical trials involving 26,738 people showing that the average time to progress one fibrosis stage in those with no or minimal fibrosis (F0–1) is 10 years. Nonetheless, some patients will progress faster, with 6%–15% of people with F0–1 fibrosis progressing to advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis (F3–4) within 5 years.

8.2 Using non-invasive tests to monitor liver fibrosis progression

Serial FIB-4 scores tend to rise in association with progressive liver fibrosis; however, small increases may not be significant. 179,180 An increase in FIB-4 score from low-risk to above indeterminate- or high-risk thresholds over a 3-year period is associated with an increased risk of incident cirrhosis, HCC and liverrelated death. 181,182 A large population cohort from Sweden showed that people with MAFLD who remain in a low-risk category (FIB-4 score <1.3) or transition from indeterminate to low risk (from a FIB-4 score of 1.3-2.67 to <1.3) over a median of 2.5 years have a low rate of future liver events (1%) after follow-up of 16 years. 182 The highest event rate (13.2%) was seen in those who remained in the high-risk group (FIB-4 score >2.67), highlighting the need for these patients to be referred for liver specialist assessment. Among a cohort of 202,319 patients with MAFLD from the US, 20% of patients with a low FIB-4 score progressed to an indeterminate or high FIB-4 score after 3 years, which signalled an increased risk of future cirrhosis or HCC. The incidence of cirrhosis or HCC in patients with a persistently low FIB-4 score was 0.4/1000 personyears, which increased to 1.3/1000 person-years in those transitioning from low to indeterminate scores,

and was highest in patients transitioning from low to high scores, at 8.6/1000 person-years. 181

Fibrosis progression is more likely with increasing liver enzyme levels and type 2 diabetes, especially when glycaemic control is not at target levels. A 10-unit increase in AST (but not ALT) is associated with a 30% increased risk of fibrosis progression, whereas a 1% increase in HbA_{1c} is associated with 15% higher odds of an increase in fibrosis stage. ^{183,184} Patients with type 2 diabetes are 69% more likely to have progressive fibrosis compared with those without type 2 diabetes. ⁶¹ Thus, repeat FIB-4 testing may be considered at shorter intervals (e.g. 1–2-yearly) for patients with type 2 diabetes or rising AST or HbA_{1c} levels.

Implementation considerations:

 Embedding repeat fibrosis testing in routine clinical practice, by including the FIB-4 Index in annual diabetes checks,⁶¹ and keeping registers of patients with MAFLD are likely to aid implementation of these recommendations.

Recommendation 16

People with MAFLD who have an initial non-invasive fibrosis test result showing a low risk of advanced fibrosis are recommended to undergo repeat non-invasive fibrosis testing in 3 years.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

Recommendation 17

People with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score between 1.3 and 2.7 who undergo elastography or a direct liver fibrosis serum test that shows a low risk of advanced liver fibrosis should be offered repeat testing with FIB-4 at least every 3 years.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Weak

8.3 Monitoring people aged over 75 years with MAFLD

The prevalence of MAFLD tends to reduce with increasing age, with an Australian study of more than 9000 participants showing that the prevalence fell from 34% in those aged between 70 and 75 years to 21% in those older than 85 years.¹⁸⁵

Overall, fatty liver in the absence of advanced liver fibrosis does not appear to be associated with excess mortality in older populations. A study of 4093 community-dwelling adults found that fatty liver in people over the age of 65 years was not associated with excess mortality. Furthermore, a US population-based study found that MAFLD is associated with increased risk of mortality for 60–74-year-old individuals, but that this risk was not increased in those older than 74 years. 187

Nonetheless, the presence of advanced liver fibrosis, as defined by non-invasive tests, was associated with an increase in mortality in patients aged 60–74 years and 75 years or older. Similarly, patients aged over 80 years with cirrhosis have a significantly increased risk of incident HCC and liver-related death compared with patients of the same age without cirrhosis.¹⁸⁸

Although there are limited data in the Australian setting, a recent analysis of the large ASPREE (Aspirin in Reducing Events in the Elderly) cohort of Australians aged 70 years or older showed that the presence of MAFLD was not associated with overall mortality but was independently associated with disability-free survival, poorer metabolic health and frailty (unpublished data).

Thus, older patients with MAFLD but without advanced fibrosis are at low risk of future liver-related events and are likely to have competing risks for mortality related to other comorbid conditions. Given the wide spectrum of functional abilities and comorbidities among older Australians, the decision of whether to screen and monitor for fibrosis progression needs to be individualised.

Recommendation 18

For people who are 75 years or older and have MAFLD, routine monitoring for fibrosis progression should be performed on a case-by-case basis, depending on their coexisting conditions and life expectancy.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

8.4 Surveillance for hepatocellular carcinoma in people with MAFLD

MAFLD is a recognised risk factor for the development of HCC, with most HCCs (70%-80%) that develop in the setting of MAFLD occurring in people with cirrhosis. Therefore, identifying people with MAFLD who have cirrhosis is paramount. A meta-analysis of 18 observational studies involving 470,404 patients indicated that the annual rate of HCC development in patients with cirrhotic MAFLD was over 3.5%, 189 exceeding the 1.5% annual risk threshold that is widely accepted for recommending regular HCC surveillance. 190 It is important to recognise that a significant minority of HCCs develop in patients with non-cirrhotic MAFLD; however, the annual risk of HCC development in this setting is <0.05%, and the large number of people with non-cirrhotic MAFLD makes HCC surveillance in this group impractical. 189,191 Australian HCC clinical practice guidelines (https:// www.cancer.org.au/clinical-guidelines/liver-cancer/ hepatocellular-carcinoma) support the practice of surveillance for HCC among people with cirrhosis due to MAFLD.¹⁹² Despite this, people with MAFLD-related cirrhosis have significantly lower rates of surveillance compared with people with other aetiologies of liver disease.193

HCC surveillance is performed with liver-directed ultrasound, with or without measurement of serum alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) levels, every 6 months and should be coordinated in conjunction with a specialist with expertise in liver disease. Patients with small nodules <10 mm in size should have a repeat ultrasound performed in 3 months to monitor for growth. Any patient with a previously uncharacterised liver nodule of 10 mm or greater in size, or with an elevated AFP level, should be imaged with multiphase

contrast-enhanced CT or MRI, with review by a liver specialist.

The benefit of HCC surveillance is the early detection of small HCCs that are more amenable to curative therapies. Data from Australian cohorts show that HCC surveillance is associated with improved survival (79% vs 49% at 12 months), and people participating in surveillance programs are more likely to have their HCC detected at an early stage and receive curative therapy (60% vs 30%). 193,194 This is supported by a large meta-analysis of 59 studies with 145,396 patients with HCC, which showed surveillance to be associated with early-stage detection (RR, 1.86; 95% CI, 1.73–1.98), curative treatment (RR, 1.83; 95% CI, 1.69–1.97) and overall survival (hazard ratio, 0.67; 95% CI, 0.61–0.72; $I^2 = 78\%$), even after adjusting for lead-time bias. I^{195}

The benefit of surveillance in people with MAFLD-related cirrhosis is likely limited to those whose future mortality risk is not primarily related to progressive decompensated liver disease or other comorbid conditions. ¹⁶ We recommend that HCC surveillance be limited to people with Child–Pugh A or B cirrhosis, those with Child–Pugh C cirrhosis who are potential liver transplantation candidates and those without life-limiting comorbidities and reasonable functional status. ¹⁹⁶

Recommendation 19

People with cirrhosis who would be willing and suitable for HCC therapy should be undergoing 6-monthly surveillance for HCC using appropriate imaging with or without serum AFP testing.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

9. Monitoring of coexisting conditions

9.1 Impact of weight change on liver histology and outcomes in MAFLD

Obesity is intimately associated with the development of MAFLD; in particular, abdominal obesity carries a higher risk of insulin resistance, steatohepatitis and liver fibrosis. 197 Although not all studies have shown adiposity to be a risk factor for progressive disease, it is clear that weight loss and the attendant reduction in metabolic dysfunction is associated with clinical benefit. Patients who achieve weight loss have improvement in histological parameters (steatohepatitis, NAFLD Activity Score and fibrosis), with the degree of weight loss independently associated with benefit.³⁶ Relatively small amounts of weight loss can improve liver histology, with a 5 kg reduction in weight associated with a 39% probability of NASH resolution and 31% probability of improvement in liver fibrosis over 1.5-2 years. 198 Furthermore, weight loss related to bariatric surgery in patients with MAFLD and obesity is associated with a reduction in major adverse cardiovascular and liverrelated events (including development of cirrhosis, HCC and liver-related death). 199 Conversely, weight gain is associated with lower odds of improvement in NASH and fibrosis. 198 Hence, weight loss is recommended for patients with MAFLD and overweight or obesity, with the greatest benefit seen in those who achieve >10% weight loss. 36,200 Monitoring of weight, BMI or waist circumference provides an insight into the likelihood of disease progression or regression and should also precipitate further assessment and management according to the Australian Obesity Management Algorithm in the presence of ongoing weight gain.⁵⁴

Recommendation 20

Weight, BMI and/or waist circumference should be monitored at least annually in people with MAFLD to guide management.

Quality of evidence: Low

Strength of recommendation: Strong

9.2 Incidence of type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD

A diagnosis of MAFLD often precedes the development of type 2 diabetes, and the presence of MAFLD is associated with an increased risk of incident type 2 diabetes. MAFLD may promote the development of type 2 diabetes, with hepatic steatosis promoting hepatic insulin resistance and increased gluconeogenesis.²⁰¹ In a large meta-analysis of more than 500,000 individuals, MAFLD was associated with a 2.2-fold increased risk of diabetes.²⁰² In patients with lean MAFLD, a 2.7-fold increased risk of incident type 2 diabetes has been seen, with the risk increasing with advanced fibrosis.²⁰³ The overall annual incidence rate of type 2 diabetes in people with underlying MAFLD is estimated at 2.7% (95% CI, 0.7%-4.4%), with hypertriglyceridaemia, prediabetes and low levels of physical activity increasing the risk.^{204,205} The onset of type 2 diabetes in people with MAFLD heralds an increased likelihood of liver-related complications, with a twofold higher risk of hepatic decompensation and a fivefold increased risk of future HCC.62

Due to the increased risk of incident type 2 diabetes and associated ramifications for patient outcomes, it is recommended that people with MAFLD be periodically screened for the development of type 2 diabetes as per current Australian guidelines (https://www.health.gov.au/resources/apps-and-tools/the-australian-type-2-diabetes-risk-assessment-tool-ausdrisk).

Recommendation 21

People with MAFLD should be monitored for the development of type 2 diabetes according to current Australian guidelines.

Quality of evidence: Moderate Strength of recommendation: Strong

10. Future developments and unmet needs

Intensive research in key areas is underway to try to improve the assessment and risk-stratification of people with MAFLD. Large consortia from Europe (Liver Investigation: Testing Marker Utility in Steatohepatitis [LITMUS]) and the US (Non-Invasive Biomarkers of Metabolic Liver Disease [NIMBLE]) have been formed to develop and validate novel diagnostic tools to assess the severity of liver disease. Novel diagnostic algorithms offer the promise of greater accuracy, simpler assessment pathways, minimisation of inappropriate referrals of patients with no or mild fibrosis and identification of those with silent advanced disease. Currently, up to 30% of people with MAFLD assessed in primary care have a FIB-4 score greater than 1.3 and require further assessment, whereas the prevalence of advanced fibrosis in general practice is only 5%-10%. More accurate first-line diagnostic tests with better risk-stratification will lead to less second-line testing and fewer referrals to liver specialists, leading to increased cost savings.

The cost of liver fibrosis diagnostic pathways is a major determinant of government reimbursement and thus uptake by doctors and patients. Cost-effectiveness studies specific to the Australian context are needed, with an emphasis on the impact of pathways on patient care and outcomes. These data will aid health policy and reimbursement strategies. Although data examining the implementation considerations of MAFLD-specific clinical pathways in primary care are emerging,⁶ it is clear that further work is needed in this area to understand the contextual factors that may limit widespread uptake and allow for examination of different implementation strategies.

Optimal methods to manage MAFLD, including more severe forms such as MASH, continue to be refined. This document focuses on assessment for MAFLD, and it is envisaged that subsequent consensus statements will incorporate management, as the evidence base consolidates. Numerous Phase III clinical trials are underway, raising the likelihood that effective pharmacotherapy will be available for people with MAFLD in the short to medium term. Notably, resmetirom received approval from the US Food and Drug Administration in March 2024 for the treatment of MASH, but it is not yet approved in Australia.²⁰⁶ The inclusion criteria for these trials are typically limited to people with steatohepatitis and significant (F2+) fibrosis, also termed "at-risk NASH". Identification of this population for clinical trials has been challenging, with high screen failure rates reported.²⁰⁷ Current noninvasive tests are optimised for detecting advanced (F3+) fibrosis, with the FIB-4 Index having modest accuracy (AUC < 0.8) for predicting at-risk NASH.²⁰⁸ Diagnostic non-invasive tests for at-risk NASH are being developed but are not yet widely validated or accessible. 209,210 The eligibility criteria for drug therapy required by the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme will have a major impact on future assessment pathways, with the focus likely to shift to identifying eligible patients.

Finally, the objectives of this consensus statement will only be met if the recommendations are widely adopted in clinical practice. This will be aided by an education, dissemination and implementation strategy that includes all key stakeholders and identifies and overcomes barriers to cementing these recommendations into clinical practice.

11. Conclusion

The prevalence of MAFLD and associated end-stage liver disease is predicted to increase significantly in Australia in coming years.4 To assist in the assessment and management of people with MAFLD, this consensus statement has been developed based on a systematic literature review and broad input from a diverse range of stakeholders and experts. It provides a structured evidence-based framework to aid health professionals working in primary care to identify and assess MAFLD and to guide appropriate referral pathways, further investigation and management. Ideally, this will improve efficiency and workflow for GPs when reviewing people with MAFLD. Ultimately, implementation of the recommendations in this consensus statement aims to improve quality of life and reduce the burden of disease for our patients.

Abbreviations

2D-SWE	two-dimensional shear wave elastography
AFP	alpha-fetoprotein
AGREE	Appraisal of Guidelines for Research & Evaluation
ALT	alanine aminotransferase
APRI	aspartate aminotransferase to platelet ratio index
AST	aspartate aminotransferase
AUC	area under the curve
ВМІ	body mass index
cACLD	compensated advanced chronic liver disease
CAP	controlled attenuation parameter
СНВ	chronic hepatitis B
СНС	chronic hepatitis C
CKD	chronic kidney disease
СТ	computed tomography
CVD	cardiovascular disease
ELF	Enhanced Liver Fibrosis
FFA	free fatty acid
FIB-4	Fibrosis-4
FLI	Fatty Liver Index
GESA	Gastroenterological Society of Australia
GP	general practitioner
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation
НСС	hepatocellular carcinoma
HCV	hepatitis C virus
MAFLD	metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease

MASH	metabolic steatohepatitis
MASLD	metabolic-associated steatotic liver disease
MRE	magnetic resonance elastography
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
NAFLD	non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
NASH	non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
NFS	NAFLD Fibrosis Score
NPV	negative predictive value
OSA	obstructive sleep apnoea
PPV	positive predictive value
pSWE	point shear wave elastography
RR	relative risk
SC	Steering Committee
SWE	shear wave elastography
VCTE	vibration-controlled transient elastography
VTQ	Virtual Touch Quantification
WG	Working Group

Acknowledgement of funding

The development of this resource was funded by GESA and by unrestricted educational grants from the following sponsors:









We confirm that the sponsors have not had, nor sought, involvement in the selection of the project, design, conduct, analysis or outcomes, or articulation of the results. Sponsors have not been involved with the project committee directly, although they may have been involved through normal operations with project participants — see the Author disclosures.

Acknowledgement of participation

Name	State	Specialty and organisation(s)	Role
Prof Leon Adams	WA	Hepatology University of Western Australia, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital	SC, Project Co-Chair
Dr Nicole Allard	Vic	General Practice Victorian Infectious Diseases Reference Laboratory	Assessment WG
A/Prof Oyekoya Ayonrinde	WA	Hepatology Fiona Stanley Hospital	Comorbidities WG
Dr Shopna Bag	NSW	Public Health Western Sydney Local Health District	Screening WG
A/Prof Stephanie Best	Vic	Implementation Science University of Melbourne	SC
Dr Luis Calzadilla Bertot	WA	Hepatology University of Western Australia	SC
Prof Tim Davis	WA	Endocrinology University of Western Australia	Monitoring WG
Dr Gary Deed	Qld	General Practice Healthcare Plus Medical Centre	SC
A/Prof Anouk Dev	Vic	Hepatology Monash Health	Comorbidities WG
A/Prof Elif Ekinci	Vic	Endocrinology University of Melbourne	Screening WG
Prof Jon Emery	Vic	General Practice University of Melbourne	SC
A/Prof Mohammed Eslam	NSW	Hepatology University of Sydney, Westmead Hospital	Monitoring WG, SC
Prof Jacob George	NSW	Hepatology University of Sydney, Westmead Hospital	SC, Project Co-Chair
A/Prof Charlotte Hespe	NSW	General Practice University of Notre Dame	Screening WG
A/Prof Samantha Hocking	NSW	Endocrinology University of Sydney, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital	SC
A/Prof Graham Jones	NSW	Clinical Biochemistry/Pathology St Vincent's Hospital Pathology	SC
A/Prof William Kemp	Vic	Hepatology Alfred Health	Monitoring WG Chair, SC
A/Prof Andrew Kirke	WA	General Practice, Rural Specialty University of Western Australia	Comorbidities WG

Name	State	Specialty and organisation(s)	Role
A/Prof John Lubel	Vic	Hepatology Monash University	Assessment WG
Prof Graeme Macdonald	Qld	Hepatology University of Queensland	Screening WG
A/Prof Suzanne Mahady	Vic	Hepatology Monash University	Screening WG
A/Prof Avik Majumdar	Vic	Hepatology Austin Health	Comorbidities WG
A/Prof Kate Muller	SA	Hepatology Flinders University, Flinders Medical Centre	Comorbidities WG Chair, SC
Prof John Olynyk	WA	Hepatology Edith Cowan University	Monitoring WG
A/Prof Milan Piya	NSW	Endocrinology Western Sydney University, Campbelltown and Camden Hospitals	Assessment WG
Prof Elizabeth Powell	Qld	Hepatology University of Queensland, Princess Alexandra Hospital	Assessment WG, SC
Prof Stuart Roberts	Vic	Hepatology Alfred Health	Screening WG Chair, SC
Dr Marno Ryan	Vic	Hepatology St Vincent's Hospital Melbourne	Monitoring WG
Sinead Sheils	NSW	Nurse Practitioner Royal Prince Alfred Hospital	SC
A/Prof Ashim Sinha	Qld	Endocrinology Cairns Hospital	Comorbidities WG
Prof Simone Strasser	NSW	Hepatology Royal Prince Alfred Hospital	Assessment WG
Prof Stephen Twigg	NSW	Endocrinology University of Sydney, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital	SC
Prof Gerald Watts	WA	Cardiometabolic Disease University of Western Australia, Royal Perth Hospital	SC
Prof Alan Wigg	SA	Hepatology Flinders University, Flinders Medical Centre	Assessment WG
Dr Sue Williams	Qld	General Practice Inala Primary Care	Monitoring WG
A/Prof Amany Zekry	NSW	Hepatology University of NSW, St George Hospital	Screening WG

SC = Steering Committee; WG = Working Group.

Author disclosures

Leon Adams has received honoraria for participating on advisory boards and speaker fees during development of the MAFLD consensus statement from Pfizer, Gilead, Roche Diagnostics and Novartis.

Gary Deed is a member of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) and the Australian Diabetes Society.

Mohammed Eslam has received personal fees from Pfizer and honoraria from Sanofi outside his participation in development of the MAFLD consensus statement.

Jacob George was previously a GESA Board Director (2021–2023) and is on advisory boards and receives honoraria for talks from Novo Nordisk, AstraZeneca, Roche, BMS, Pfizer, Cincera, Pharmaxis and Boehringer Mannheim.

Charlotte Hespe is an RACGP Board Director and an Associate Investigator on Medical Research Future Fund grant 2009279, "Identifying Cirrhosis and Liver Cancer in Primary Care".

Samantha Hocking has received honoraria from or participated on advisory boards for Eli Lilly, Novo Nordisk, iNova, Sanofi, AstraZeneca, Servier, Amgen, Nestle Health Sciences, Seqirus, Pfizer and Johnson & Johnson. She is President of the National Association of Clinical Obesity Services.

John Lubel is a GESA Board Director (2021—ongoing), serves on the advisory board (unpaid) for CSL, has received speaker fees from Norgine and Gilead, has presented at sponsored GP dinners (no personal fees) for Norgine and Dr Falk Pharma, has received sponsorship for a GP educational event (no speaker fee) from Viatris Pty Ltd, was invited by the Australian Gastrointestinal Trials Group to the Mentor to Preceptorship event (no personal fees) with flights and accommodation provided, is an IPSEN advisory consultant and has received speaker fees for internal staff education, and received sponsorship from IPSEN to attend the EASL 2024 meeting in Milan, Italy. Norgine partially supported his PhD student to travel to an international conference.

Graeme Macdonald is a Board Member of Hepatitis Queensland.

Kate Muller has received honoraria for participating on advisory boards and speaker fees during development of the MAFLD consensus statement from Chiesi, Eisai, AstraZeneca and Novo Nordisk.

John Olynyk is a member of the Overseas Trained Physicians Committee of the Royal Australasian College of Physicians and a member of the Scientific Advisory Committee at the Lions Eye Institute.

Milan Piya has received honoraria from Novo Nordisk, Eli Lilly, Takeda, Ethicon and iNova for speaking engagements and participation on advisory boards and support to attend conferences. He is on the Council of the Australian and New Zealand Obesity Society.

Elizabeth Powell has received honoraria for advisory board participation and support for an educational event from Novo Nordisk and has had access to the ELF test provided by Siemens Healthineers.

Simone Strasser has received honoraria for participating on advisory boards and speaker fees during development of the MAFLD consensus statement from Chiesi, Eisai, Sirtex, Norgine, Roche Products, Roche Diagnostics, AstraZeneca, Otsuka and Pfizer. She is a Board Director of the Liver Foundation.

Stephen Twigg is Chair of the Australian Diabetes Society Working Group for Diabetes and Liver Disease (in commissioning, with a national Diabetes Centre focus) and a member of the Abbott Diabetes Care Freestyle Libre Advisory Board, AstraZeneca Dapagliflozin Advisory Board and Nevro Spinal Stimulators for Painful Diabetes-Related Neuropathy Advisory Board.

Gerald Watts has received research grants and has been on the advisory boards of Arrowhead Pharma and CSL, both relevant to agents that lower triglyceride levels and could affect MAFLD.

Alan Wigg received AstraZeneca speaker and chairman fees in 2023.

Amany Zekry is a GESA Board Director (2023-ongoing).

Results of Delphi rounds

Colour coding	D1: First Delphi round
Agreement level ≥80%	D2: Second Delphi round
Agreement level <80% and >70%	D3: Third Delphi round
Agreement level <80% and >70%	Agree: <i>A priori</i> threshold for agreement is ≥80% summation of "agree" or
Agreement level ≤70%	"strongly agree" responses

No.	Recommendation	D1 Agree	D2 Agree	D3 Agree
1	Screening of adults for MAFLD in primary care should be offered to those at high risk, including those with obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, or two or more metabolic risk factors.	97%	91%	_
2	Liver ultrasound should be the first-line test to diagnose hepatic steatosis in people at high risk of MAFLD.	87%	85%	_
3	People with MAFLD should be assessed for other common causes of fatty liver and liver disease.	94%	88%	_
4	People with MAFLD should undergo screening for harmful alcohol use.	97%	100%	_
5	People with MAFLD should have a review of prescribed and non-prescribed medications.	90%	97%*	_
6	People with MAFLD and elevated serum aminotransaminase levels should undergo evaluation for hepatitis B and C infection.	93%	100%	_
7	People with MAFLD and elevated serum aminotransaminase levels should undergo screening for iron overload using measurement of serum transferrin and ferritin levels.	81%	85%	_
8	People with MAFLD should be offered non-invasive testing to assess their risk of liver fibrosis.	90%	97%	_
9	A non-invasive test, such as FIB-4, should be offered as an initial test to help "rule out" the risk of severe liver fibrosis among people with MAFLD.	87%	91%	_
10	In people with MAFLD and type 2 diabetes, a direct liver fibrosis serum test or liver elastography could be considered as an initial test if available.	74%	79%	_
11	People with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score between 1.3 and 2.7 should undergo a second-line assessment with liver elastography or a direct liver fibrosis serum test or, if these are unavailable, be considered for referral to a gastroenterologist or hepatologist.	90%	85%	_
12	People with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score >2.7 or elevated direct liver fibrosis serum test or liver elastography should be referred for gastroenterologist or hepatologist assessment.	100%	94%	_

No.	Recommendation	D1 Agree	D2 Agree	D3 Agree
13	People with MAFLD who have an initial non-invasive fibrosis test result showing a low risk of advanced fibrosis are recommended to undergo repeat non-invasive fibrosis testing in 3 years.	77%	82%	_
14	People with MAFLD and a FIB-4 score between 1.3 and 2.7 who undergo elastography or a direct liver fibrosis serum test that shows a low risk of advanced liver fibrosis should be offered repeat testing with elastography or a direct liver fibrosis serum test in 3 years.	_	85%	_
15	People with MAFLD and clinical, laboratory or imaging evidence of cirrhosis should be referred for gastroenterologist or hepatologist assessment.	100%	91%	_
16	For people who are 75 years or older and have MAFLD, routine monitoring for fibrosis progression should be performed on a case-by-case basis, depending on their coexisting conditions and life expectancy.	52%	97%	_
17	People with cirrhosis should undergo 6-monthly screening for hepatocellular carcinoma using appropriate imaging with or without serum AFP testing.	90%	94%	_
18	People with obesity and MAFLD should be assessed in accordance with the Australian Obesity Management Algorithm.	94%	91%	_
19	Weight and BMI should be monitored at least annually in people with MAFLD.	90%	91%	_
20	People with MAFLD should be assessed for type 2 diabetes using measurement of fasting blood glucose or HbA _{1c} levels.	90%	94%	_
21	People with MAFLD should be monitored for incident type 2 diabetes according to current Australian guidelines.	83%	91%	_
22	People with MAFLD should be assessed for the presence or risk of cardiovascular disease according to current Australian guidelines.	87%	91%	_
23	People with MAFLD should be assessed for thyroid dysfunction.	64%	64%	_
24	Assessment for the coexisting conditions of obstructive sleep apnoea, chronic kidney disease and polycystic ovary syndrome (in women of reproductive age) should be considered for people with MAFLD.	87%	85%*	_
25	Assessment for mental illness should be considered for people with MAFLD.	65%	61%	_
26	Assessment for chronic kidney disease could be considered at least annually in people with MAFLD.	74%	76%	75%

AFP = alpha-fetoprotein; BMI = body mass index; FIB-4 = Fibrosis-4; HbA_{1c} = glycated haemoglobin; HCC = hepatocellular carcinoma; MAFLD = metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease.

^{*} Although ≥80% of participants agreed or strongly agreed with the recommendation, only 79% of participants agreed or strongly agreed to include the recommendation in the consensus statement.

Endorsing organisations

Organisation [those in red are pending]	Committee representative
Australasian Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine (AACB)	Graham Jones
Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine	Andrew Kirke
Australian Diabetes Society (ADS)	Stephen Twigg
Australasian Hepatology Association (AHA)	Sinead Sheils
Australian and New Zealand Obesity Society (ANZOS)	Milan Piya
Liver Foundation	Simone Strasser
National Association of Clinical Obesity Services (NACOS)	Samantha Hocking
Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP)	Gary Deed
Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia (RCPA)	Graham Jones

References

- Mahady SE, Adams LA. Burden of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in Australia. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2018; 33 Suppl 1: 1-11.
- Farrell AM, Magliano DJ, Shaw JE, et al. A problem of proportions: estimates of metabolic associated fatty liver disease and liver fibrosis in Australian adults in the nationwide 2012 AusDiab Study. Sci Rep 2022; 12: 1956.
- 3. Eslam M, Newsome P, Sarin SK, et al. A new definition for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: an international expert consensus statement. *J Hepatol* 2020; 73: 201-209.
- 4. Adams LA, Roberts SK, Strasser SI, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease burden: Australia, 2019–2030. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2020; 35: 1628-1635.
- 5. Patel PJ, Banh X, Horsfall LU, et al. Underappreciation of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease by primary care clinicians: limited awareness of surrogate markers of fibrosis. *Intern Med J* 2018; 48: 144-151.
- Gracen L, Hayward KL, Aikebuse M, et al. An exploration of barriers and facilitators to implementing a nonalcoholic fatty liver disease pathway for people with type 2 diabetes in primary care. *Diabet Med* 2022; 39: e14799.
- Eslam M, Sanyal AJ, George J, International Consensus Panel. MAFLD: a consensus-driven proposed nomenclature for metabolic associated fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2020; 158: 1999-2014.e1.
- 8. Lim GEH, Tang A, Ng CH, et al. An observational data metaanalysis on the differences in prevalence and risk factors between MAFLD vs NAFLD. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2023; 21: 619-629.e7.
- Kemp W, Clayton-Chubb D, Majeed A, et al. Impact of renaming NAFLD to MAFLD in an Australian regional cohort: results from a prospective population-based study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 37: 395-403.
- Younossi ZM, Alqahtani SA, Alswat K, et al. Global survey of stigma among physicians and patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2024; 80: 419-430.
- Mendez-Sanchez N, Bugianesi E, Gish RG, et al. Global multistakeholder endorsement of the MAFLD definition. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2022; 7: 388-390.
- 12. Shiha G, Korenjak M, Casanovas T, et al. MAFLD 2022: An ELPA/ALPA/EASO-ECPO joint statement on disease stigma. *J Hepatol* 2022; 77: 1717-1719.
- 13. AGREE Next Steps Consortium. The AGREE II Instrument, 2017. http://www.agreetrust.org (accessed 17 June 2024).

- Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, et al. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ 2017; 358: j4008.
- Jones J, Hunter D. Consensus methods for medical and health services research. BMJ 1995; 311: 376-380.
- Hepatocellular Carcinoma Consensus Statement Working Group. Australian recommendations for the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: a consensus statement. Melbourne: Gastroenterological Society of Australia, 2020.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* 2008; 336: 924-926.
- National Health and Medical Research Council.
 Guidelines for guidelines: assessing certainty of evidence.
 Canberra: NHMRC, 2019. https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelinesforguidelines/develop/assessing-certainty-evidence (accessed 17 June 2024).
- Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, et al. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease—metaanalytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. Hepatology 2016; 64: 73-84.
- 20. Le M, Yeo Y, Li X, et al. 2019 Global NAFLD prevalence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2022; 20: 2809-2817.e28.
- 21. Wong RJ, Singal AK. Trends in liver disease etiology among adults awaiting liver transplantation in the United States, 2014-2019. *JAMA Netw Open* 2020; 3: e1920294.
- 22. Pais R, Barritt A, Calmus Y, et al. NAFLD and liver transplantation: current burden and expected challenges. *J Hepatol* 2016; 65: 1245-1257.
- Vaz K, Clayton-Chubb D, Majeed A, et al. Current understanding and future perspectives on the impact of changing NAFLD to MAFLD on global epidemiology and clinical outcomes. *Hepatol Int* 2023; 17: 1082-1097.
- Vaz K, Kemp W, Majeed A, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease prevalence in Australia has risen over 15 years in conjunction with increased prevalence of obesity and reduction in healthy lifestyle. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2023; 38: 1823-1831.
- 25. Atan NAD, Koushki M, Motedayen M, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench* 2017; 10 (Suppl 1): S1-S7.
- 26. Dai W, Ye L, Liu A, et al. Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2017; 96: e8179.

- Younossi ZM, Golabi P, de Avila L, et al. The global epidemiology of NAFLD and NASH in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Hepatol* 2019; 71: 793-801.
- 28. Roberts SK, Majeed A, Glenister K, et al. Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in regional Victoria: a prospective population-based study. *Med J Aust* 2021; 215: 77-82.
- 29. Wong VW, Wong GL, Woo J, et al. Impact of the new definition of metabolic associated fatty liver disease on the epidemiology of the disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2021; 19: 2161-2171.e5.
- 30. Li L, Liu DW, Yan HY, et al. Obesity is an independent risk factor for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: evidence from a meta-analysis of 21 cohort studies. *Obes Rev* 2016; 17: 510-519.
- Vusirikala A, Thomas T, Bhala N, et al. Impact of obesity and metabolic health status in the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): a United Kingdom populationbased cohort study using the health improvement network (THIN). BMC Endocr Disord 2020; 20: 96.
- Ampuero J, Aller R, Gallego-Durán R, et al. The effects of metabolic status on non-alcoholic fatty liver diseaserelated outcomes, beyond the presence of obesity. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2018; 48: 1260-1270.
- Ciardullo S, Monti T, Sala I, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and advanced fibrosis in US adults across blood pressure categories. *Hypertension* 2020; 76: 562-568.
- Le P, Payne JY, Zhang L, et al. Disease state transition probabilities across the spectrum of NAFLD: a systematic review and meta-analysis of paired biopsy or imaging studies. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 21: 1154-1168.
- 35. Ng CH, Lim WH, Hui Lim GE, et al. Mortality outcomes by fibrosis stage in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2023; 21: 931-939.e5.
- Vilar-Gomez E, Martinez-Perez Y, Calzadilla-Bertot L, et al. Weight loss through lifestyle modification significantly reduces features of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology 2015; 149: 367-378.e5.
- Noureddin M, Jones C, Alkhouri N, et al. Screening for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in persons with type 2 diabetes in the United States is cost-effective: a comprehensive cost-utility analysis. *Gastroenterology* 2020; 159: 1985-1987.
- Corey KE, Klebanoff MJ, Tramontano AC, et al. Screening for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in individuals with type 2 diabetes: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *Dig Dis Sci* 2016; 61: 2108-2117.
- Phisalprapa P, Supakankunti S, Charatcharoenwitthaya
 P, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of ultrasonography
 screening for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in metabolic
 syndrome patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017; 96: e6585.

- Congly SE, Shaheen AA, Swain MG. Modelling the cost effectiveness of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease risk stratification strategies in the community setting. *PLoS One* 2021; 16: e0251741.
- Vilar-Gomez E, Lou Z, Kong N, et al. Cost effectiveness of different strategies for detecting cirrhosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease based on United States health care system. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 2305-2314.e12.
- 42. Ballestri S, Mantovani A, Byrne CD, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of ultrasonography for the detection of hepatic steatosis: an updated meta-analysis of observational studies. *Metab Target Organ Damage* 2021; 1: 7.
- 43. Hernaez R, Lazo M, Bonekamp S, et al. Diagnostic accuracy and reliability of ultrasonography for the detection of fatty liver: a meta-analysis. *Hepatology* 2011; 54: 1082-1090.
- 44. Petroff D, Blank V, Newsome PN, et al. Assessment of hepatic steatosis by controlled attenuation parameter using the M and XL probes: an individual patient data meta-analysis.

 Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 6: 185-198.
- Karlas T, Petroff D, M. S, et al. Individual patient data meta-analysis of controlled attenuation parameter (CAP) technology for assessing steatosis. *J Hepatol* 2017; 66: 1022-1030.
- Wang X-M, Zhang X-J, Ma L. Diagnostic performance of magnetic resonance technology in detecting steatosis or fibrosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2018; 97: e10605.
- 47. Fedchuk L, Nascimbeni F, Pais R, et al. Performance and limitations of steatosis biomarkers in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2014; 40: 1209-1222.
- 48. Kahl S, Strassburger K, Nowotny B, et al. Comparison of liver fat indices for the diagnosis of hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e94059.
- Castellana M, Donghia R, Guerra V, et al. Performance of fatty liver index in identifying non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in population studies. A meta-analysis. *J Clin Med* 2021; 10: 1877.
- Munteanu M, Tiniakos D, Anstee Q, et al. Diagnostic performance of FibroTest, SteatoTest and ActiTest in patients with NAFLD using the SAF score as histological reference. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2016; 44: 877-889.
- 51. Poynard T, Peta V, Munteanu M, et al. The diagnostic performance of a simplified blood test (SteatoTest-2) for the prediction of liver steatosis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2019; 31: 393-402.
- Powell EE, Wong VW, Rinella M. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Lancet* 2021; 397: 2212-2224.

- Mantovani A, Petracca G, Beatrice G, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and increased risk of incident extrahepatic cancers: a meta-analysis of observational cohort studies. *Gut* 2022; 71: 778-788.
- 54. Markovic TP, Proietto J, Dixon JB, et al. The Australian Obesity Management Algorithm: a simple tool to guide the management of obesity in primary care. *Obes Res Clin Pract* 2022; 16: 353-363.
- Liu J, Ayada I, Zhang X, et al. Estimating global prevalence of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease in overweight or obese adults. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 20: e573-e582.
- Janjua M, Knuiman M, Divitini M, et al. Alcohol consumption and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a population-based cohort study. *Hepatol Commun* 2022; 6: 526-534.
- 57. Lonardo A, Nascimbeni F, Mantovani A, Targher G. Hypertension, diabetes, atherosclerosis and NASH: cause or consequence? *J Hepatol* 2018; 68: 335-352.
- 58. Ballestri S, Zona S, Targher G, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with an almost twofold increased risk of incident type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome. Evidence from a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 31: 936-944.
- Mantovani A, Byrne CD, Bonora E, Targher G. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 2018; 41: 372-382.
- Loomba R, Abraham M, Unalp A, et al. Association between diabetes, family history of diabetes, and risk of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and fibrosis. *Hepatology* 2012; 56: 943-951.
- Huang DQ, Wilson LA, Behling C, et al. Fibrosis progression rate in biopsy-proven nonalcoholic fatty liver disease among people with diabetes versus people without diabetes: a multicenter study. Gastroenterology 2023; 165: 463-472.e5.
- Huang DQ, Noureddin N, Ajmera V, et al. Type 2 diabetes, hepatic decompensation, and hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: an individual participant-level data meta-analysis. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2023; 8: 829-836.
- Bertot LC, Jeffrey GP, de Boer B, et al. Diabetes impacts prediction of cirrhosis and prognosis by non-invasive fibrosis models in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Liver Int* 2018; 38: 1793-1802.
- 64. O'Beirne J, Skoien R, Leggett BA, et al. Diabetes mellitus and the progression of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease to decompensated cirrhosis: a retrospective cohort study. *Med J Aust* 2023; 219: 358-365.
- Kanwal F, Kramer JR, Mapakshi S, et al. Risk of hepatocellular cancer in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology 2018; 155: 1828-1837.e2.

- Doycheva I, Zhang T, Amjad W, Thuluvath PJ. Diabetes and hepatocellular carcinoma: incidence trends and impact of liver disease etiology. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2020; 10: 296-303.
- 67. Yang JD, Ahmed F, Mara KC, et al. Diabetes is associated with increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with cirrhosis from nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2020; 71: 907-916.
- Simon TG, King LY, Chong DQ, et al. Diabetes, metabolic comorbidities, and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: results from two prospective cohort studies. *Hepatology* 2018; 67: 1797-1806.
- 69. Wang Z, Bertot LC, Jeffrey GP, et al. Serum fibrosis tests guide prognosis in metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease patients referred from primary care. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2022; 20: 2041-2049.e5.
- Kim D, Konyn P, Sandhu KK, et al. Metabolic dysfunctionassociated fatty liver disease is associated with increased all-cause mortality in the United States. *J Hepatol* 2021; 75: 1284-1291.
- Stepanova M, Younossi ZM. Independent association between nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and cardiovascular disease in the US population. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 10: 646-650.
- Mantovani A, Csermely A, Tilg H, et al. Comparative effects of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease on risk of incident cardiovascular events: a meta-analysis of about 13 million individuals. Gut 2023; 72: 1433-1436.
- 73. Oni ET, Agatston AS, Blaha MJ, et al. A systematic review: burden and severity of subclinical cardiovascular disease among those with nonalcoholic fatty liver; should we care? Atherosclerosis 2013; 230: 258-267.
- 74. Wijarnpreecha K, Lou S, Panjawatanan P, et al. Association between diastolic cardiac dysfunction and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dig Liver Dis* 2018; 50: 1166-1175.
- Mantovani A, Pernigo M, Bergamini C, et al. Heart valve calcification in patients with type 2 diabetes and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Metabolism* 2015; 64: 879-887.
- Targher G, Valbusa F, Bonapace S, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with an increased incidence of atrial fibrillation in patients with type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e57183.
- Agustanti N, Soetedjo NNM, Damara FA, et al. The
 association between metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty
 liver disease and chronic kidney disease: a systematic review
 and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* 2023; 17: 102780.
- 78. Mantovani A, Petracca G, Beatrice G, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident chronic kidney disease: an updated meta-analysis. *Gut* 2022; 71: 156-162.

- Chen S, Pang J, Huang R, et al. Association of MAFLD with end-stage kidney disease: a prospective study of 337,783 UK Biobank participants. *Hepatol Int* 2023; 17: 595-605.
- 80. Ndumele CE, Neeland IJ, Tuttle KR, et al. A synopsis of the evidence for the science and clinical management of cardiovascular-kidney-metabolic (CKM) syndrome: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2023; 148: 1636-1664.
- Sun DQ, Targher G, Byrne CD, et al. An international Delphi consensus statement on metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease and risk of chronic kidney disease. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr 2023; 12: 386-403.
- Byrne CD, Targher G. NAFLD as a driver of chronic kidney disease. J Hepatol 2020; 72: 785-801.
- 83. Patil SP, Billings ME, Bourjeily G, et al. Long-term health outcomes for patients with obstructive sleep apnea: placing the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality report in context—a multisociety commentary. *J Clin Sleep Med* 2024; 20: 135-149.
- 84. Quek J, Ng CH, Tang ASP, et al. Metabolic associated fatty liver disease increases the risk of systemic complications and mortality. A meta-analysis and systematic review of 12 620 736 individuals. *Endocr Pract* 2022; 28: 667-672.
- 85. Arvind A, Henson JB, Osganian SA, et al. Risk of cardiovascular disease in individuals with nonobese nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatol Commun* 2022; 6: 309-319.
- Patel PJ, Hayward KL, Rudra R, et al. Multimorbidity and polypharmacy in diabetic patients with NAFLD: implications for disease severity and management. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2017; 96: e6761.
- 87. Ji Y, Liang Y, Mak JCW, Ip MSM. Obstructive sleep apnea, intermittent hypoxia and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Sleep Med* 2022; 95: 16-28.
- 88. Ip MS, Lam B, Ng MM, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea is independently associated with insulin resistance. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002; 165: 670-676.
- 89. Jin S, Jiang S, Hu A. Association between obstructive sleep apnea and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Breath* 2018; 22: 841-851.
- Tanne F, Gagnadoux F, Chazouilleres O, et al. Chronic liver injury during obstructive sleep apnea. *Hepatology* 2005; 41: 1290-1296.
- Trzepizur W, Boursier J, Mansour Y, et al. Association between severity of obstructive sleep apnea and blood markers of liver injury. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 14: 1657-1661.
- Ng SSS, Wong VWS, Wong GLH, et al. Continuous positive airway pressure does not improve nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. A randomized clinical trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2021; 203: 493-501.

- 93. Chung F, Yegneswaran B, Liao P, et al. STOP questionnaire: a tool to screen patients for obstructive sleep apnea.

 Anesthesiology 2008; 108: 812-821.
- 94. Liebe R, Esposito I, Bock HH, et al. Diagnosis and management of secondary causes of steatohepatitis. *J Hepatol* 2021; 74: 1455-1471.
- 95. Hepatitis C Virus Infection Consensus Statement Working Group. Australian recommendations for the management of hepatitis C virus infection: a consensus statement. Melbourne: Gastroenterological Society of Australia, 2022.
- 96. World Health Organization. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: WHO, 2018.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Alcohol, tobacco & other drugs in Australia. AIHW: Canberra, 2023. https:// www.aihw.gov.au/reports/alcohol/alcohol-tobacco-otherdrugs-australia/contents/drug-types/alcohol (accessed 27 November 2023).
- 98. National Health and Medical Research Council. Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 2020.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian Burden of Disease Study 2018: interactive data on risk factor burden. Canberra: AIHW, 2021. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/burden-of-disease/abds-2018-interactive-data-risk-factors/contents/alcohol-use (accessed 26 June 2024).
- Seitz HK, Bataller R, Cortez-Pinto H, et al. Alcoholic liver disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2018; 4: 16.
- 101. Naveau S, Giraud V, Borotto E, et al. Excess weight risk factor for alcoholic liver disease. *Hepatology* 1997; 25: 108-111.
- 102. Raynard B, Balian A, Fallik D, et al. Risk factors of fibrosis in alcohol-induced liver disease. *Hepatology* 2002; 35: 635-638.
- 103. Magherman L, Van Parys R, Pauwels NS, et al. Meta-analysis: the impact of light-to-moderate alcohol consumption on progressive non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2023; 57: 820-836.
- 104. Vilar-Gomez E, Calzadilla-Bertot L, Wai-Sun Wong V, et al. Fibrosis severity as a determinant of cause-specific mortality in patients with advanced nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a multi-national cohort study. Gastroenterology 2018; 155: 443-457.e17.
- 105. King J, McManus H, Kwon A, et al. HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmissible infections in Australia: annual surveillance report 2023. Sydney: The Kirby Institute, 2023.
- 106. King J, McManus H, Kwon A, et al. HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmissible infections in Australia: annual surveillance report 2022. Sydney: The Kirby Institute, 2022.
- 107. Hepatitis B Consensus Statement Working Group. Australian consensus recommendations for the management of hepatitis B infection. Melbourne: Gastroenterological Society of Australia, 2022.

- 108. Wong RJ, Jain MK, Therapondos G, et al. Antiviral therapy reduces risk of cirrhosis in noncirrhotic HBV patients among 4 urban safety-net health systems. Am J Gastroenterol 2021; 116: 1465-1475.
- 109. Valenti L, Pelusi S, Bianco C, et al. Definition of healthy ranges for alanine aminotransferase levels: a 2021 update. Hepatol Commun 2021; 5: 1824-1832.
- 110. Koerbin G, Sikaris K, Jones GRD, et al. An update report on the harmonization of adult reference intervals in Australasia. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 2018; 57: 38-41.
- 111. Angulo P, George J, Day CP, et al. Serum ferritin levels lack diagnostic accuracy for liver fibrosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 12: 1163-1169.e1.
- 112. Buzzetti E, Petta S, Manuguerra R, et al. Evaluating the association of serum ferritin and hepatic iron with disease severity in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Liver Int* 2019; 39: 1325-1334.
- 113. Bugianesi E, Manzini P, D'Antico S, et al. Relative contribution of iron burden, HFE mutations, and insulin resistance to fibrosis in nonalcoholic fatty liver. *Hepatology* 2004; 39: 179-187.
- 114. Kowdley KV, Belt P, Wilson LA, et al. Serum ferritin is an independent predictor of histologic severity and advanced fibrosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2012; 55: 77-85.
- 115. Adams LA, Crawford DH, Stuart K, et al. The impact of phlebotomy in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial. *Hepatology* 2015; 61: 1555-1564.
- 116. Laine F, Ruivard M, Loustaud-Ratti V, et al. Metabolic and hepatic effects of bloodletting in dysmetabolic iron overload syndrome: a randomized controlled study in 274 patients. *Hepatology* 2017; 65: 465-474.
- 117. Crawford DHG, Ramm GA, Bridle KR, et al. Clinical practice guidelines on hemochromatosis: Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver. *Hepatol Int* 2023; 17: 522-541.
- 118. Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Van Natta M, et al. Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2005; 41: 1313-1321.
- 119. Bedossa P, Flip Pathology Consortium. Utility and appropriateness of the fatty liver inhibition of progression (FLIP) algorithm and steatosis, activity, and fibrosis (SAF) score in the evaluation of biopsies of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2014; 60: 565-575.
- 120. Ciardullo S, Perseghin G. Prevalence of NAFLD, MAFLD and associated advanced fibrosis in the contemporary United States population. *Liver Int* 2021; 41: 1290-1293.

- 121. Wong VW, Chu WC, Wong GL, et al. Prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and advanced fibrosis in Hong Kong Chinese: a population study using proton-magnetic resonance spectroscopy and transient elastography. *Gut* 2012; 61: 409-415.
- 122. Kim M, Yoon EL, Cho S, et al. Prevalence of advanced hepatic fibrosis and comorbidity in metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease in Korea. *Liver Int* 2022; 42: 1536-1544.
- 123. Armstrong MJ, Houlihan DD, Bentham L, et al. Presence and severity of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in a large prospective primary care cohort. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 234-240.
- 124. Patel P, Hossain F, Horsfall LU, et al. A pragmatic approach identifies a high rate of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with advanced fibrosis in diabetes clinics and at-risk populations in primary care. *Hepatol Commun* 2018; 2: 893-905.
- 125. Ekstedt M, Hagstrom H, Nasr P, et al. Fibrosis stage is the strongest predictor for disease-specific mortality in NAFLD after up to 33 years of follow-up. *Hepatology* 2015; 61: 1547-1554.
- 126. Adams LA, Lymp JF, St Sauver J, et al. The natural history of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a population-based cohort study. *Gastroenterology* 2005; 129: 113-121.
- 127. Angulo P, Kleiner DE, Dam-Larsen S, et al. Liver fibrosis, but no other histologic features, is associated with long-term outcomes of patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2015; 149: 389-397.e10.
- 128. Taylor RS, Taylor RJ, Bayliss S, et al. Association between fibrosis stage and outcomes of patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gastroenterology* 2020; 158: 1611-1625.e12.
- 129. de Franchis R, Baveno VI Faculty. Expanding consensus in portal hypertension: report of the Baveno VI Consensus Workshop: stratifying risk and individualizing care for portal hypertension. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 743-752.
- 130. Ratziu V, Charlotte F, Heurtier A, et al. Sampling variability of liver biopsy in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

 Gastroenterology 2005; 128: 1898-1906.
- Davison BA, Harrison SA, Cotter G, et al. Suboptimal reliability of liver biopsy evaluation has implications for randomized clinical trials. *J Hepatol* 2020; 73: 1322-1332.
- 132. Mozes FE, Lee JA, Vali Y, et al. Performance of non-invasive tests and histology for the prediction of clinical outcomes in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: an individual participant data meta-analysis. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2023; 8: 704-713.
- 133. Gawrieh S, Wilson LA, Cummings OW, et al. Histologic findings of advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease who have normal aminotransferase levels. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2019; 114: 1626-1635.

- 134. Mofrad P, Contos MJ, Haque M, et al. Clinical and histologic spectrum of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease associated with normal ALT values. *Hepatology* 2003; 37: 1286-1292.
- 135. Hetland LE, Kronborg TM, Thing M, et al. Suboptimal diagnostic accuracy of ultrasound and CT for compensated cirrhosis: evidence from prospective cohort studies. *Hepatol Commun* 2023; 7: e0231.
- 136. European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on non-invasive tests for evaluation of liver disease severity and prognosis 2021 update. *J Hepatol* 2021; 75: 659-689.
- Usher-Smith JA, Sharp SJ, Griffin SJ. The spectrum effect in tests for risk prediction, screening, and diagnosis. *BMJ* 2016; 353: i3139.
- 138. Eslam M, Sarin SK, Wong VW, et al. The Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of metabolic associated fatty liver disease. *Hepatol Int* 2020; 14: 889-919.
- 139. Rinella ME, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Siddiqui MS, et al. AASLD Practice Guidance on the clinical assessment and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2023; 77: 1797-1835.
- 140. European Association for the Study of the Liver, European Association for the Study of Diabetes, European Association for the Study of Obesity. EASL-EASD-EASO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Hepatol* 2016; 64: 1388-1402.
- 141. Castera L, Boursier J. Noninvasive algorithms for the case finding of "at-risk" patients with NAFLD. *Semin Liver Dis* 2022; 42: 313-326.
- 142. Castera L. Non-invasive tests for liver fibrosis in NAFLD: creating pathways between primary healthcare and liver clinics. *Liver Int* 2020; 40 Suppl 1: 77-81.
- 143. Castera L, Friedrich-Rust M, Loomba R. Noninvasive assessment of liver disease in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2019; 156: 1264-1281.e4.
- 144. Mozes FE, Lee JA, Selvaraj EA, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of non-invasive tests for advanced fibrosis in patients with NAFLD: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *Gut* 2022; 71: 1006-1019.
- 145. McPherson S, Anstee QM, Henderson E, et al. Are simple noninvasive scoring systems for fibrosis reliable in patients with NAFLD and normal ALT levels? *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 25: 652-658.
- 146. Sumida Y, Yoneda M, Hyogo H, et al. Validation of the FIB4 index in a Japanese nonalcoholic fatty liver disease population. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2012; 12: 2.

- 147. Wong VW, Tak WY, Goh GBB, et al. Performance of noninvasive tests of fibrosis among Asians, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic whites in the STELLAR trials. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2023; 21: 90-102.e6.
- 148. McPherson S, Hardy T, Dufour JF, et al. Age as a confounding factor for the accurate non-invasive diagnosis of advanced NAFLD fibrosis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2017; 112: 740-751.
- 149. Vali Y, Lee J, Boursier J, et al. Biomarkers for staging fibrosis and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (the LITMUS project): a comparative diagnostic accuracy study. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2023; 8: 714-725.
- 150. Adams LA, George J, Bugianesi E, et al. Complex non-invasive fibrosis models are more accurate than simple models in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 26: 1536-1543.
- 151. Kjaergaard M, Lindvig KP, Thorhauge KH, et al. Using the ELF test, FIB-4 and NAFLD fibrosis score to screen the population for liver disease. *J Hepatol* 2023; 79: 277-286.
- 152. Boursier J, Guillaume M, Leroy V, et al. New sequential combinations of non-invasive fibrosis tests provide an accurate diagnosis of advanced fibrosis in NAFLD. *J Hepatol* 2019; 71: 389-396.
- 153. Petta S, Wong VW, Camma C, et al. Serial combination of non-invasive tools improves the diagnostic accuracy of severe liver fibrosis in patients with NAFLD. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2017; 46: 617-627.
- 154. Loomba R, Adams LA. Advances in non-invasive assessment of hepatic fibrosis. *Gut* 2020; 69: 1343-1352.
- 155. Braude M, Roberts S, Majeed A, et al. Liver stiffness (Fibroscan(R)) is a predictor of all-cause mortality in people with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Liver Int* 2023; 43: 90-99.
- 156. Boursier J, Hagstrom H, Ekstedt M, et al. Non-invasive tests accurately stratify patients with NAFLD based on their risk of liver-related events. *J Hepatol* 2022; 76: 1013-1020.
- 157. Kemp W, Roberts S. FibroScan(R) and transient elastography. *Aust Fam Physician* 2013; 42: 468-471.
- 158. Kemp W, Roberts S. Feasibility and performance of the FibroScan XL probe. *Hepatology* 2012; 55: 1308-1309; author reply 1309-1310.
- 159. Garteiser P, Castera L, Coupaye M, et al. Prospective comparison of transient elastography, MRI and serum scores for grading steatosis and detecting non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in bariatric surgery candidates. JHEP Rep 2021; 3: 100381.
- 160. Ooi GJ, Earnest A, Kemp WW, et al. Evaluating feasibility and accuracy of non-invasive tests for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in severe and morbid obesity. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2018; 42: 1900-1911.

- Ferraioli G, Tinelli C, Zicchetti M, et al. Reproducibility of real-time shear wave elastography in the evaluation of liver elasticity. Eur J Radiol 2012; 81: 3102-3106.
- 162. Selvaraj EA, Mozes FE, Jayaswal ANA, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of elastography and magnetic resonance imaging in patients with NAFLD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Hepatol* 2021; 75: 770-785.
- 163. Cassinotto C, Boursier J, de Ledinghen V, et al. Liver stiffness in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a comparison of supersonic shear imaging, FibroScan, and ARFI with liver biopsy. *Hepatology* 2016; 63: 1817-1827.
- 164. Roccarina D, Iogna Prat L, Pallini G, et al. Comparison of point-shear wave elastography (ElastPQ) and transient elastography (FibroScan) for liver fibrosis staging in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Liver Int* 2022; 42: 2195-2203.
- 165. Leong WL, Lai LL, Nik Mustapha NR, et al. Comparing point shear wave elastography (ElastPQ) and transient elastography for diagnosis of fibrosis stage in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2020; 35: 135-141.
- 166. Argalia G, Ventura C, Tosi N, et al. Comparison of point shear wave elastography and transient elastography in the evaluation of patients with NAFLD. *Radiol Med* 2022; 127: 571-576.
- Cassinotto C, Boursier J, Paisant A, et al. Transient versus two-dimensional shear-wave elastography in a multistep strategy to detect advanced fibrosis in NAFLD. *Hepatology* 2021; 73: 2196-2205.
- 168. Boursier J, Cassinotto C, Hunault G, et al. Criteria to determine reliability of noninvasive assessment of liver fibrosis with virtual touch quantification. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2019; 17: 164-171.e5.
- 169. Thiele M, Madsen BS, Procopet B, et al. Reliability criteria for liver stiffness measurements with real-time 2D shear wave elastography in different clinical scenarios of chronic liver disease. Ultraschall Med 2017; 38: 648-654.
- 170. Paisant A, Lemoine S, Cassinotto C, et al. Reliability criteria of two-dimensional shear wave elastography: analysis of 4277 measurements in 788 patients. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2022; 20: 400-408.e10.
- 171. Chen C, Wang L, Wu J, et al. Circulating collagen metabolites and the Enhanced Liver Fibrosis (ELF) score as fibrosis markers in systemic sclerosis. Front Pharmacol 2022; 13: 805708.
- 172. Bertot LC, Jeffrey GP, de Boer B, et al. Comparative accuracy of clinical fibrosis markers, Hepascore and Fibroscan(R) to detect advanced fibrosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Dig Dis Sci* 2023; 68: 2757-2767.

- 173. Vali Y, Lee J, Boursier J, et al. Enhanced liver fibrosis test for the non-invasive diagnosis of fibrosis in patients with NAFLD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Hepatol* 2020; 73: 252-262.
- 174. Srivastava A, Gailer R, Tanwar S, et al. Prospective evaluation of a primary care referral pathway for patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Hepatol* 2019; 71: 371-378.
- 175. Huang Y, Joseph J, de Boer WB, et al. Long-term liver-related outcomes of patients with chronic liver diseases in Australia. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2020; 18: 496-504.e3.
- 176. Rossi E, Adams LA, Ching HL, et al. High biological variation of serum hyaluronic acid and Hepascore, a biochemical marker model for the prediction of liver fibrosis. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 2013; 51: 1107-1114.
- 177. Bertot LC, Jeffrey GP, Wallace M, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-related cirrhosis is commonly unrecognized and associated with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatol Commun* 2017; 1: 53-60.
- 178. Simon TG, Roelstraete B, Hagstrom H, et al. Progression of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and long-term outcomes: a nationwide paired liver biopsy cohort study. *J Hepatol* 2023; 79: 1366-1373.
- 179. Patel PJ, Cheng JC, Banh X, et al. Clinically significant fibrosis is associated with longitudinal increases in fibrosis-4 and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease fibrosis scores. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2020; 18: 710-718.e4.
- 180. Balkhed W, Aberg FO, Nasr P, et al. Repeated measurements of non-invasive fibrosis tests to monitor the progression of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a long-term follow-up study. *Liver Int* 2022; 42: 1545-1556.
- 181. Cholankeril G, Kramer JR, Chu J, et al. Longitudinal changes in fibrosis markers are associated with risk of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Hepatol* 2023; 78: 493-500.
- 182. Hagstrom H, Talback M, Andreasson A, et al. Repeated FIB-4 measurements can help identify individuals at risk of severe liver disease. *J Hepatol* 2020; 73: 1023-1029.
- 183. Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Wilson LA, et al. Association of histologic disease activity with progression of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *JAMA Netw Open* 2019; 2: e1912565.
- 184. Alexopoulos AS, Crowley MJ, Wang Y, et al. Glycemic control predicts severity of hepatocyte ballooning and hepatic fibrosis in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2021; 74: 1220-1233.
- 185. Clayton-Chubb D, Kemp WW, Majeed A, et al. Metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease in older adults is associated with frailty and social disadvantage. *Liver Int* 2024; 44: 39-51.

- van Kleef LA, Sonneveld MJ, Kavousi M, et al. Fatty liver disease is not associated with increased mortality in the elderly: a prospective cohort study. *Hepatology* 2023; 77: 585-593.
- Golabi P, Paik J, Reddy R, et al. Prevalence and long-term outcomes of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease among elderly individuals from the United States. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2019; 19: 56.
- 188. Hoshida Y, Ikeda K, Kobayashi M, et al. Chronic liver disease in the extremely elderly of 80 years or more: clinical characteristics, prognosis and patient survival analysis. *J Hepatol* 1999; 31: 860-866.
- 189. Orci LA, Sanduzzi-Zamparelli M, Caballol B, et al. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 20: 283-292.e10.
- 190. Marrero JA, Kulik LM, Sirlin CB, et al. Diagnosis, staging, and management of hepatocellular carcinoma: 2018 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. *Hepatology* 2018; 68: 723-750.
- 191. Singal AG, El-Serag HB. Rational HCC screening approaches for patients with NAFLD. *J Hepatol* 2022; 76: 195-201.
- 192. Cancer Council Australia Hepatocellular Carcinoma Surveillance Working Group. Clinical practice guidelines for hepatocellular carcinoma surveillance for people at high risk in Australia. Sydney: Cancer Council Australia, 2023.
- 193. Huang Y, Wallace MC, Adams LA, et al. Rate of nonsurveillance and advanced hepatocellular carcinoma at diagnosis in chronic liver disease. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2018; 52: 551-556.
- 194. Hong TP, Gow PJ, Fink M, et al. Surveillance improves survival of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a prospective population-based study. *Med J Aust* 2018; 209: 348-354.
- 195. Singal AG, Zhang E, Narasimman M, et al. HCC surveillance improves early detection, curative treatment receipt, and survival in patients with cirrhosis: a meta-analysis. *J Hepatol* 2022; 77: 128-139.
- 196. Taddei TH, Jou JH. When to stop screening—liver cancer. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2023; 118: 427-428.
- 197. van der Poorten D, Milner KL, Hui J, et al. Visceral fat: a key mediator of steatohepatitis in metabolic liver disease. *Hepatology* 2008; 48: 449-457.
- 198. Koutoukidis DA, Jebb SA, Tomlinson JW, et al. Association of weight changes with changes in histological features and blood markers in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2022; 20: e538-e547.

- 199. Aminian A, Al-Kurd A, Wilson R, et al. Association of bariatric surgery with major adverse liver and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with biopsy-proven nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *JAMA* 2021; 326: 2031-2042.
- 200. Koutoukidis DA, Koshiaris C, Henry JA, et al. The effect of the magnitude of weight loss on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Metabolism* 2021; 115: 154455.
- 201. Gastaldelli A, Cusi K. From NASH to diabetes and from diabetes to NASH: mechanisms and treatment options. *JHEP Rep* 2019; 1: 312-328.
- 202. Mantovani A, Petracca G, Beatrice G, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident diabetes mellitus: an updated meta-analysis of 501 022 adult individuals. *Gut* 2021; 70: 962-969.
- 203. Gao Y, Zhao T, Song S, et al. Lean nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident type 2 diabetes mellitus: a literature review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2023; 200: 110699.
- 204. Arase Y, Suzuki F, Ikeda K, et al. Multivariate analysis of risk factors for the development of type 2 diabetes in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Gastroenterol* 2009; 44: 1064-1070.
- 205. Cao L, An Y, Liu H, et al. Global epidemiology of type 2 diabetes in patients with NAFLD or MAFLD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Med* 2024; 22: 101.
- 206. Harrison SA, Bedossa P, Guy CD, et al. A Phase 3, randomized, controlled trial of resmetirom in NASH with liver fibrosis. *N Engl J Med* 2024; 390: 497-509.
- Harrison SA, Allen AM, Dubourg J, et al. Challenges and opportunities in NASH drug development. *Nat Med* 2023; 29: 562-573.
- Sanyal AJ, Shankar SS, Yates KP, et al. Diagnostic performance of circulating biomarkers for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Nat Med* 2023; 29: 2656-2664.
- 209. Ratziu V, Harrison SA, Hajji Y, et al. NIS2+(TM) as a screening tool to optimize patient selection in metabolic dysfunction-associated steatohepatitis clinical trials. *J Hepatol* 2024; 80: 209-219.
- 210. Kim BK, Tamaki N, Imajo K, et al. Head-to-head comparison between MEFIB, MAST, and FAST for detecting stage 2 fibrosis or higher among patients with NAFLD. *J Hepatol* 2022; 77: 1482-1490.